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GENERAL 
INFORMATION
Country of Incorporation and Domicile
Mauritius

Nature of business and 
principal activities
Investment Company

Directors
D Kaplan 

Executive Director (Chief Executive Officer)

TA Purves 

Executive Director (Chief Financial Officer)

C McIllrath 

Independent Non-Executive Director 

ML Geldenhuys 

Non-Executive Director

PM Todd   

Non-Executive Director

PG Armitage 

Non-Executive Director

KA Holland

Non-Executive Director

Registered Office
3rd Floor, La Croisette

Grand Baie

Republic of Mauritius

Business Address
3rd Floor, La Croisette

Grand Baie

Republic of Mauritius

Auditors
KMPG

KMPG Centre

31, Cybercity

Ebène

Republic of Mauritius

Secretary
Osiris Corporate Solutions

(Mauritius) Limited

3rd Floor, La Croisette 

Grand Baie

Republic of Mauritius

Company registration number
C129785

Level of assurance 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and in compliance 

with the requirements of the Mauritius Companies Act.

Custodian and Bankers 
Canaccord Genuity Wealth Management 

PO Box 45, 2 Grange Place

The Grange

St Peter Port

Guernsey 

AfrAsia Bank Limited 

3rd Floor, Nexteracom Tower 3I

Ebène

Republic of Mauritius

Investec Bank (Mauritius) Limited

6th Floor, Dias Pier Building

Le Caudan Waterfront

Port Louis

Republic of Mauritius

The Standard Bank of South Africa Ltd

30 Baker Street

Johannesburg

South Africa

Legal Advisors
Mardemootoo Solicitors

3rd Floor, Jamalacs Building

Vieux Conseil Street

Port Louis

Mauritius

Werksmans Attorneys  

155, 5th Street

Sandton 2196

South Africa
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Warren Buffett

You do things when the 

opportunities come along. I’ve 

had periods in my life when 

I’ve had a bundle of ideas come 

along, and I’ve had long dry 

spells. If I get an idea next week, 

I’ll do something. If not, I won’t 

do a damn thing.
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The NAV per share at 31 December 
2015 was USD 0.97

‘000

Net Asset Value USD 123,191

Shares in issue 126,810

NAV per share USD 0.97

Objectives and Listing of Astoria
Astoria Investments Ltd (“Astoria” or the “Company”) is an investment company with permanent capital. Its primary objective, which 
reflects the way we think about the investment of its capital, is to achieve strong USD capital appreciation over the medium to long-term by 
investing in global equity dominated holdings of primarily direct, high quality listed businesses. This will be augmented when appropriate, 
by investing in niche funds, other funds and global private equity opportunities. The highlights of the year for Astoria were the Stock 
Exchange of Mauritius  (‘SEM’) listing, and the South African private placement undertaken on the AltX of the Johannesburg Stock Exchange 
(“JSE”) as further detailed below.

Astoria placed 125,817,402 of its shares with invited investors at the point of listing on the JSE at an issue price of ZAR 14.23 per share. 
The issue price per share was the ZAR equivalent of USD 1.00 per share, being the spot exchange rate at 12:00 SA time on Wednesday, 
18 November 2015. A total of 126,809,944 Astoria shares (comprising the shares issued in terms of the listing on the JSE and the existing 
shares in issue that were already listed on the SEM were listed on the AltX of the JSE and the SEM with effect from the commencement of 
trade on the JSE on Wednesday, 25 November 2015. Astoria was subsequently listed on the main board of the Namibian Exchange by way 
of a secondary listing on 10 February 2016.

Results
The Company reported a loss of USD 1.67 million for the period ended 31 December 2015. While there was a small net gain from financial 
assets, there was a net foreign exchange loss of USD 1.45 million arising principally from adverse movements in foreign currency. This 
reflected the difference in exchange rates of ZAR to USD applied in the private placing as against the average exchange rate at which those 
ZAR proceeds were converted to USD. In addition there were costs of USD 0.1 million representing professional fees associated with the 
structuring and listing services provided to the Company in respect of its listing on the SEM and AltX of the JSE.

The currency loss referred to above should not be viewed as an operating issue. The ZAR has been volatile since the listing but Astoria’s 
ZAR exposure is now less than 1%. As Astoria’s accounting currency is the USD, the exchange rate of the ZAR to the USD should not impact 
Astoria’s operating performance. It will remain relevant to the price at which the Company’s shares trade on the JSE. Moreover, future 
capital raisings by Astoria would likely be conducted in ZAR.The NAV per share at 31 December 2015 was USD 0.97. At 31 December 2015, 
Astoria had invested 32% of its assets. The balance was held predominantly in USD cash. Subsequent to year end and as at 31 March 2016, 
Astoria had invested an approximate additional 10% of its capital.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER’S REPORT



4

Operations
The Company is run from its office in Mauritius. The Company’s assets 
are managed by Anchor Capital (Mauritius) Ltd in terms of a discretionary 
mandate as set out in the Investment Management Agreement. The 
details of this agreement are set out in the JSE Pre-Listing Statement 
issued on 16 November 2015.

Commentary
Given the primary objective of the Company detailed above, we 
believe that our investment performance should be measured over 
time. This is the benefit of having permanent capital to invest. We 
do not look to trade short-term market or individual share price 
movements. We seek to make well researched investments in high 
quality businesses which we prefer to hold for the long-term to 
achieve strong compound returns. There are well known benefits to 
this approach. We believe that there are also benefits to the Astoria 
structure for shareholders resident in specific jurisdictions. These 
issues are dealt with in the documents which are available on our 
website, www.astoria.mu.

Changes to the Board 
of Directors
Mr Lourens Geldenhuys resigned as a non-executive director with 
effect from 31 January 2016 in order to focus on his other business 
interests. Mr Peter Todd was appointed as a non-executive director 
to replace Mr Geldenhuys with effect from 31 January 2016.

Prospects
Looking at 2016, global markets turned volatile with the new year 
as emerging markets and emerging market currencies began 
reflecting heightened concerns about US interest rates, global 
growth and commodity markets. There is little doubt that global 
economies (and monetary policy) are in unchartered waters 
with the long shadow of the global financial crisis still evident in 
economic performance and monetary policy. Yet, while these issues 
are relevant to Astoria and its investment manager, they are not the 
drivers of our investment approach or our investment policy.

There will likely be tactical shifts from time to time in Astoria’s asset 
allocation. We have for example stated that current conditions may 
be more conducive to a higher weighting in private equity than 
previously anticipated. This will also depend on the opportunity set 
and the attractiveness of specific opportunities. Any such tactical 
shifts, if and when made, do not change the primary objective of 
Astoria stated at the outset. 

The new year is challenging for investors generally, but with that, 
opportunities arise. We believe that taking advantage of selected 
opportunities has the potential to establish a solid base for medium 
to long term performance. Our strong board of directors, the 
experience of our investment manager, the exciting opportunities 
we are seeing and our access to permanent capital create a 
platform to pursue our primary objective of achieving strong USD 
capital appreciation over the medium to long-term.

Darryl Kaplan



Shareholder Shares Held % Held

Anchor Alt AGG Fund 21,400, 020 16.88%

RMB Securities (Pty) Ltd 8,162, 195 6.44%

Introduction
Astoria operates under corporate governance policies that 
embrace the principles and recommendations set out in the 
Code of Corporate Governance for Mauritius.  The Company 
has secondary listings on the Alternative Exchange (AltX) of the 
Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE) and the main board of the 
Namibian Exchange (NSX), and although the Company is not 
required to comply with the King Report on Governance for South 
Africa 2009 (hereinafter referred to as King III Report), as good 
practice, relevant sections of Chapter 2 (Boards and Directors) 
have been provided in the King III checklist. The Company seeks 
to fully comply with the principles of King III over time. 

Company Structure and 
Shareholding
The holding structure of the Company as at the date of this 
report is set out below:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
& SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Directors’ Service Contracts
The Directors who served during the period were appointed to serve 
by resolutions of the Board and their appointments are not subject 
to fixed terms of service.  There are no signed service agreements 
between individual directors and the Company, however there are 
draft letters of appointment that will be implemented after the 
reporting period.

Contracts of Significance
Other than as stated below there was no contract of significance 
subsisting during the period to which the Company is a party and 
in which a director was materially interested, either directly or 
indirectly. Ms McIlraith is director of AfrAsia Bank Ltd, which is one 
of the Company’s bankers.  She is also a director of Anchor Capital 
(Mauritius) Ltd, the Company’s Investment Manager. 

From the period of incorporation until 25 November 2015, Mr 
Geldenhuys was the director and shareholder of the Company’s 
previous sole shareholder, Sofrica Investment Company Ltd.

Mr Todd and Ms Holland are a director and an employee of Osiris 
Corporate Solutions (Mauritius) Limited, respectively, with which the 
Company has entered into a Service Agreement.  Osiris Corporate 
Solutions (Mauritius) Limited provides secretarial, accounting and 
administrative services to the Company.
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Shareholding

At 31 December 2015, the issued and fully paid-up share capital 
of the Company was 126,809,944 shares, at USD 1.00 per share. 
As at 31 December 2015, the following shareholders had holdings 
exceeding 5% of the Company’s total shares in issue:

100%

Minority shareholders on the JSE and SEM

Astoria Investments Ltd (Mauritius)

Listed global equity investments, global funds 
investments and private equity investments

Investment 
Manager 
Agreement

Anchor Capital (Mauritius) 
Ltd (Mauritius)



Dividend Policy
The Company intends to pay dividends to shareholders as and when the Board deems it suitable. However, as the objective of the Company 
is long-term capital growth, there may be periods in respect of which dividends may be low or not paid at all. The amount of any dividend 
will be at the complete discretion of the Board and will depend on a number of factors, including expectations of future earnings, capital 
requirements, financial conditions, future prospects, laws relating to dividends, and other factors that the Board deems relevant. Further to 
the above, no dividend may be declared and paid except out of profits and unless the directors determine that immediately after the payment 
of the dividend:

• the Company shall be able to satisfy the solvency test in accordance with Section 6 of the Mauritius Companies Act 2001; and
• the realisable value of the assets of the Company will not be less than the sum of its total liabilities, other than deferred taxes, as shown 

in the books of account and its capital.

In respect of interim dividends , the Directors may declare to the shareholders such interim dividends as appear to the directors to be justified 
by the surplus of the Company. Subject to the rights of holders of shares entitled to special rights as to dividends, all dividends shall be 
declared and paid equally on all shares in issue at the date of declaration of the dividend. 

Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is responsible for setting the direction of the Company through the establishment of strategic objectives and key policies.  
The Board holds ultimate responsibility for and control over the Company’s affairs and monitors the operational activities and decisions of the 
Investment Manager, Anchor Capital (Mauritius) Ltd.  The Board is responsible for the Company’s corporate governance system, and is ultimately 
accountable for its activities.  In particular, the Board:
• Assesses and approves strategic plans;
• Approves financial plans and budgets;
• Monitors operational performance;
• Determines processes for risk management and internal controls;
• Ensures compliance with laws and regulations, including the relevant listing rules and regulations of the SEM, the JSE and the NSX; and
• Approves financial statements and other announcements on the SEM, JSE and NSX. 

The Board’s policy is that the majority of directors shall be independent and non-executive. The following directors held office during the period:

Director Appointed Resigned Reappointed

      Peter McAllister Todd  20 April 2015  29 September 2015 31 January 2016

      Sandra Indira Gobin-Jaggeshar 20 April 2015 19 August 2015

      Mattheus Lourens Geldenhuys 19 August 2015 31 January 2016

      Peter Graham Armitage 19 August 2015

      Catherine McIlraith 19 August 2015

      Daniel William Desmond Romburgh 19 August 2015 29 September 2015

      Tiffany Ann Purves 29 September 2015

      Kate Alexandra Holland 29 September 2015

      Darryl Kaplan 29 September 2015

Non-executive Independent non-executive

6



Board of Directors (Continued)
Biographies of the Company’s directors are set out below:

Mr Darryl Kaplan
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director 

Mr Kaplan has worked in the fields of law, corporate finance and investment. Mr Kaplan lived 
in Australia from 1989 to 1991 and worked as a lawyer at Mallesons Stephen Jaques in Sydney 
where he requalified and was admitted as a solicitor. From 1991 to 1999 Mr Kaplan lived in South 
Africa where he worked in corporate finance including at Bidvest. His role at Bidvest included 
investor relations.  Since 1999 Mr Kaplan has been resident in Australia where he worked in the 
software industry including a regional legal role for a US software company. Mr Kaplan worked 
in investment since 2003 including for an international equity fund within a family office and an 
equity fund in the Pengana group.

Ms Tiffany Ann Purves
Chief Financial Officer and Executive Director 

Ms Purves is a Qualified Chartered Accountant. She spent 7 years in the investment banking 
sector in London, working for ING Barings, Bankers Trust and ABN AMRO from 1993 to 2000. 
She worked on interbank marketing for the fixed income derivatives team of ABN AMRO and 
was registered with the Financial Services Authority in the United Kingdom as a result. Ms Purves 
worked as the financial director of an IT business for 3 years before starting her own business, 
About Finance Ltd, which provides bookkeeping, accountancy and corporate secretarial services.

Mr Mattheus Lourens Geldenhuys
Non-Executive Director

Mr Geldenhuys graduated from the University of Stellenbosch with an accounting degree 
and obtained an Honours degree in corporate restructuring/accounts from the University of 
Johannesburg. Lourens was employed by the Standard Bank Group for 12 years, most notably 
as Global Head of Asset Finance, based in London, where he successfully arranged financing 
and provided corporate finance advice to numerous clients in emerging markets, including sub-
Saharan Africa, Brazil, China and Russia. Prior to Standard Bank London, Lourens was Head of 
Corporate Finance at African Merchant Bank in Johannesburg where his clients included major 
listed companies, such as Naspers, Metropolitan Life and Real Africa Investments. Mr Geldenhuys 
is currently a director of MLG Investment Partners, a UK based asset financing and strategic 
consulting firm. 

Mr Peter Graham Armitage
Non-Executive Director 

Mr Armitage is a CA (SA), having served articles with Deloitte & Touche. Mr Armitage has 23 
years’ experience in global financial markets, having worked as an analyst, Head of Research and 
Chief Investment Officer at various companies. Peter also ran an internet media business during 
2000 and 2001. Mr Armitage has achieved a record number of no. 1 positions (21) in the annual 
Financial Mail investment analyst survey of institutional investors. In 1999, Mr Armitage was rated 
the Top Analyst in SA by Finance Week. He has worked at Merrill Lynch, Deutsche Bank, Nedbank 
and Investec Wealth & Investment. Mr Armitage is the CEO of JSE-listed Anchor Group, which he 
founded in 2011. He was named by the Financial Mail as one of the 10 top businessmen in South 
Africa for 2015.
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Ms Catherine McIlraith
Independent Non-Executive Director

Ms McIlraith is a Mauritian citizen and holds a Bachelor of Accountancy degree from the University 
of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa and has been a member of the South African 
Institute of Chartered Accountants since 1992. She served her articles at Ernst & Young in 
Johannesburg. She then joined the Investment Banking industry and has held senior positions in 
corporate and specialised finance for Ridge Corporate Finance, BoE NatWest and BoE Merchant 
Bank in Johannesburg. She returned to Mauritius in 2004 to join Investec Bank where she was 
Head of Banking until 2010. Catherine is a Fellow Member of the Mauritius Institute of Directors 
(“MIoD”). She is an independent non-executive director and a member of various committees 
of a number of public and private companies in Mauritius including AfrAsia Bank Limited, CIEL 
Limited, and Les Gaz Industriels Limited. She is also the chairperson of the MIoD since October 
2014.

Mr Peter McAllister Todd
Non-Executive Director 

Mr Todd qualified as an attorney and became a senior tax manager at Arthur Anderson and 
Associates in Johannesburg. He joined TWS Rubin Ferguson in 1993 as a tax partner and was 
instrumental in listing several companies on the JSE. Mr Todd’s practice was focused primarily 
on the property industry in South Africa. The practice consulted on corporate structuring and 
raising finance for corporate developments. In 2000, Mr Todd set up Osiris International Trustees 
Limited in the BVI to provide international trust and corporate administrative services to global 
clients, as well as Drake Fund Advisors, which sets up and administers hedge funds in the BVI 
and Cayman Islands for alternate and equity investments. Mr Todd was involved as a director 
from inception with the creation of Ciref Ltd.  Ciref went on to list on AIM and later reversed into 
Wichford Ltd on the main board of the LSE. Mr Todd was also general manager of Corovest Fund 
Managers the investment manager of Redefine International Limited. Mr Todd remained a non-
executive director of Redefine International Limited from initial listing.  Mr Todd has served on 
the board of a number of listed and unlisted hedge funds with exposure to the equity markets.

Ms Kate Alexandra Holland
Non-Executive Director

Ms Holland has a BA PPE from the University of Stellenbosch, South Africa and a Post - Graduate 
LLB from the University of Cape Town, South Africa. She has worked in the legal field in Mauritius 
since 2008, where she has experience working on various property-related projects, such as the 
Integrated Resort Schemes (IRS) and Real Estate Schemes (RES) and in the corporate field, with 
varied experience, including experience on advising and setting up corporate entities in Mauritius. 
She has also been involved in the listing of various companies on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius 
and advising on their continuing obligations. Kate has also headed up the business development 
and worked as practice manager for one of the largest legal practices in Mauritius.
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Board of Directors (Continued)
All major strategic decisions are taken by the Board as a whole and there 
is a formal schedule of items reserved for consideration by the Board. The 
Board constitutes the senior management of the Company. The Board 
meets regularly to review the Company’s operations and progress with 
the Company’s investment strategy.  Each Board meeting has a formal 
agenda and key items, such as portfolio performance and progress with 
acquisitions, are reviewed on a regular basis.  The Board also monitors 
finance, risk and corporate responsibility matters.  All directors receive 
relevant reports and papers prior to each meeting.  Additional meetings 
and discussions take place outside the Board’s regular meeting schedule 
as the need arises. 

The executive directors consult the non-executive directors on a regular 
basis. The non-executive directors also hold discussions in the absence 
of the executive directors.

The responsibilities of each director have been made clear to them and 
they are provided with written material on the Company’s corporate 
governance arrangements, including the terms of reference of the 
Board’s committees.  All directors have access to the advice and services 
of the Company Secretary and also have access to independent 
professional advice at the Company’s expense.

The following directors are also directors of other companies listed on 
public stock exchanges:

• Peter Armitage: Anchor Group Limited
• Catherine McIlraith: CIEL Limited, Les Gaz Industriels Limited, the 

Mauritius Development Investment Trust Company Limited
• Peter Todd: Delta Africa Property Holdings Ltd, Green Bay 

Properties Ltd, Trevo Capital Ltd

Board Charter
The Board does not currently have a Board Charter in place, but does 
intend to adopt one in the next financial year.

Risk Management
The Board reviews the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management 
framework against the principal risks facing the business on an annual 
basis, with the assistance of the Audit and Risk Committee.

The risks to the Company are all of the risks that would typically be 
associated with investing in global equities. Set out below is a list of 
identified risks, and the mitigation strategies adopted by the Company:
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RISK IMPACT MITIGATION STRATEGIES

Liquidity Risk/ Failure to Raise Capital Inability to:
• Raise equity to finance new 

projects
• Meet obligations

• Ensure investor confidence in the market 
by effectively and efficiently managing 
the portfolio of investments, declaring 
dividends as and when appropriate, 
and making relevant and timely 
announcements to stakeholders.

• Forward cash flow management. 
• Diversify sources of funding. 
• Early engagement with financiers.

No Assurance of Profits
• Given the market volatility and 

business risks associated with this 
venture, there can be no assurance 
that the Company will sustain a 
cumulative profit during the period of 
its existence.  Stakeholders may lose 
part or all of their initial investment. 

• Returns to stakeholders, in 
terms of dividend distribution, 
is reliant on the profitability of 
the Company; henceforth, any 
volatility on the market affecting 
the profits will impact directly on 
the profit/ dividend distributable 
amounts.

• The Company has appointed an 
Investment Manager, Anchor Capital 
(Mauritius) Ltd, which has the necessary/ 
relevant expertise in terms of advising and 
managing securities investment globally.

Investment Restrictions
• The Company’s investment policies 

do not prohibit certain investment 
techniques such as concentration 
of investments in a small number of 
companies, or sectors that may entail 
significant risks.

• Concentration of the Company’s 
investment strategy to specific 
markets associates itself with 
higher returns and corresponding 
risks.

• The Board, in consultation with the 
Investment Manager, reassesses its 
investment strategy on a periodic basis to 
ensure it is aligned to the objectives of the 
Company, while ensuring stakeholders  
interests.

Currency Risks
• The Company may invest substantially 

in assets whereby the income and 
proceeds of which will be received in 
currencies other than USD (United 
States Dollar). Accordingly, the value 
of the shares and distributions in USD 
terms will be adversely affected by 
any reductions in value of the relevant 
currency relative to USD. 

• Accordingly, the value of the 
shares and distributions in USD 
terms will be adversely affected 
by any reductions in value of the 
relevant currency relative to USD.

• In addition, the Company will incur 
transaction costs in connection 
with the conversions between 
other currencies and USD. 

• Erosion of distributable earnings.

• The Board monitors the currency on an 
ongoing basis.  The Company diversifies 
its investments denominated in various 
foreign currencies, in view of mitigating 
potential negative exposures.

FINANCIAL RISKS
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RISK IMPACT COMMENTARY

Overall Market Risk
• All securities investments 

represent a potential risk of loss 
of capital.

• Reduced profitability and 
returns to stakeholders

• The Company has appointed an Investment 
Manager, Anchor Capital (Mauritius) Ltd, which 
has the necessary/ relevant expertise in terms 
of advising and managing securities investment 
globally.

Portfolio Concentration • Failure to maintain a well-
diversified portfolio with a wide 
variety of assets, could result 
in a significant negative impact 
on shareholders’ equity and the 
ability to pay dividends.

• The Company will invest primarily in direct 
equity of companies on a global basis. This 
will enable the Company to potentially achieve 
diversification on a geographic basis in the 
equity asset class.  This risk will be closely 
monitored by the Investment Manager.

OPERATIONAL RISKS

RISK IMPACT COMMENTARY

Regulatory risk – legal compliance
• The Company operates in a 

highly regulated environment. 
As has been the theme in the 
financial services industry since 
the global financial crisis of 2008, 
the regulatory environment is 
continuously subject to regulatory 
scrutiny and regulation, the 
outcomes of which are uncertain.  

• Unintentional non-compliance with 
laws which can potentially have 
a negative impact on investment 
performance.

• The Board reviews the effectiveness of the 
Company’s risk management framework 
against the principal risks facing the 
business on an annual basis, with the 
assistance of the Audit and Risk Committee 
and taking account of recommendations 
from the Company’s auditors.  

Regulatory risk – JSE and SEM 
compliance

• Suspension or termination of the 
Company’s listing

• Fines and public censures if non-
compliance occurs.

• Reputational risk.

• Active monitoring by directors, corporate 
sponsors and the company secretary in both 
Mauritius and South Africa.

• Completion of annual compliance checklist.

REGULATORY AND COMPLIANCE RISKS
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Director
Remuneration as at 31 December 2015

$’000

Executive Directors   

Mr Darryl Kaplan 25

Ms Tiffany Purves 10

Non-executive Directors

Mr Peter Armitage 2.5

Ms Catherine McIlraith 2.5

Ms Kate Holland 2

Mr Lourens Geldenhuys 5

Director Board
Corporate 

Governance
Audit & Risk

Mr Darryl Kaplan 3 / 3 - -

Ms Tiffany Purves 3 / 3 1/1 -

Mr Lourens Geldenhuys 3 / 3 - 1/1

Mr Peter Armitage 0 / 3 - 1/1

Ms Catherine McIlraith 3 / 3 1/1 1/1

Ms Kate Holland 3 / 3 1/1 -

Board Attendances
The table below shows directors’ attendance at Board and Committee meetings during the reporting period:
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Statement Of Remuneration Philosophy 
The Corporate Governance Committee of the Board determines the level of non-executive and independent non-executive fees and 
recommend same to the Board for approval. 

The following amounts have been incurred by the Company as directors’ remuneration during the period:



Committees Of The Board
In order to effectively address the needs of the Company and to further its commitment to best practice in corporate governance, the 
Board has established Corporate Governance, and Audit and Risk Committees during the reporting period. Each of the Committees has 
adopted its terms of reference as approved by the Board.  The Company’s corporate governance structure is set out below.

Astoria Board

Executive Directors
Mr Darryl Kaplan
Ms Tiffany Purves

Non-Executive Directors
Mr Lourens Geldenhuys*

Mr Peter Armitage
Ms Kate Holland

Independent 
Non-Executive Directors

Ms Catherine McIlraith

Corporate Governance  Committee
Ms Kate Holland (Chair)

Ms Tiffany Purves
Ms Catherine McIlraith

Audit and Risk Committee
Ms Catherine McIlraith (Chair)

Mr Lourens Geldenhuys*
Mr Peter Armitage

*Replaced by Mr Peter Todd on 
31 January 2016

The minutes of each Committee meeting are circulated to 
the Board as a whole. Each Committee operates within terms 
of reference determined by the Board having regard to 
independent external guidance.  The duties of each Committee 
are summarised below.

Corporate Governance Committee - Duties 

• Formulate and recommend to the Board for approval a set 
of best practice corporate governance principles supporting 
the Company’s strategic priorities, in accordance with the 
applicable Code of Corporate Governance; 

• Monitor the Company’s compliance with its adopted 
corporate governance principles; 

• Review the Company’s compliance with all relevant legal and 
regulatory requirements within the jurisdictions in which 
the Company operates;

• Monitor potential changes in such legal and regulatory 
requirements to ensure that the Company is in a position to 
respond appropriately to their introduction;

• Ensure the Company has in place adequate processes 
for reporting and responding to any material regulatory 
breaches and the findings of regulatory agencies;

• Keep under review the Company’s conduct and reputational 
risk profile, ensuring that the Company’s executives place 
appropriate emphasis on the Company’s reputation as part 
of the key decision making process;

• Ensure that the Company has in place an adequate 
code of ethics and conduct regulating its dealings with 
investors, clients, advisers, employees and the public 
generally, monitoring the effectiveness of the code on an 
ongoing basis;

• Report formally to the Board on its proceedings and 
make recommendations to the Board on any area within 
its remit;

• Produce a statement on the Company’s governance 
framework and its performance in relation to it for 
inclusion in the Company’s annual report;

• At least annually, review its constitution and terms 
of reference to ensure it is operating at maximum 
effectiveness and recommend any changes it considers 
necessary to the Board for approval;

• Determine the level of non-executive and independent 
non-executive fees and recommend same to the 
Board for approval;

• Liaise with the Board in relation to the preparation of 
the Committee’s report to shareholders as required 
and to consider each year (and minute its conclusions) 
whether the circumstances are such that shareholders 
at the annual general meeting of the Company should 
be invited to approve the remuneration policy set out in 
the Committee’s report.
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Audit and Risk Committee – Duties 

• Monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements, including 
reviewing the financial statements prior to approval, including annual 
report and other periodic reports, results announcements and statements 
relating to financial performance, focusing on significant financial 
reporting issues, major judgemental areas, significant audit adjustments, 
going concern and compliance with accounting standards and securities 
exchange and regulatory requirements;

• Monitor, and challenge where necessary, the consistency of and any 
changes to accounting policies, the selection of accounting methodology 
for significant transactions, the application of appropriate accounting 
standards and the clarity of disclosure in the Group’s financial reports 
including all material supporting information;

• Monitor the independence and objectivity of the auditors and make 
recommendations to the Board, to be put to members for approval at the 
AGM, in relation to the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the 
auditors and their remuneration and overseeing the selection process for 
new auditors as necessary;

• Consider any issues arising from the audit and any matters the auditors 
wish to raise;

• Review the effectiveness of the audit, including the auditors’ 
management letter and the response of management to its findings and 
recommendations; 

• Develop and implement policy on the engagement of the external auditor 
to supply non-audit services, and approve the terms on which the auditor 
may be engaged to supply such services;

• Review audit planning process to ensure that the policies in place to 
combat financial crime, money-laundering activities, fraud and bribery are 
tested through the audit process; 

• Review the internal procedures by which employees, advisors and 
contractors may raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters 
of financial reporting and other matters (“whistleblowing”), to ensure 
that arrangements are in place for the investigation of such matters and 
appropriate follow-up action; 

• Advise the Board on the Company’s overall risk profile, tolerance and 
strategy, taking account of the current and prospective macroeconomic and 
financial environment and drawing on financial stability assessments such 
as those published by relevant industry and regulatory authorities;

• Oversee and advise the Board on the current risk exposures of the Company 
and future risk strategy and prepare a risk matrix for the Company;

• Consider and approve the remit of the risk management function and 
ensuring that it has: (i) adequate resources and appropriate access 
to information to enable it to perform its function effectively and in 
accordance with the relevant professional standards; and (ii) adequate 
independence and is free from management and other restrictions;

• Review promptly all risk management reports on the Company and 
review and monitor management’s responsiveness to findings and 
recommendations contained in such reports (whether formal or informal);

• Ensure the risk management function is provided with unfettered direct 
access to the Committee and the Chairman of the Board;

• Report  formally to the Board on its proceedings and make recommendations 
to the Board on any area within its remit;

• Produce an annual formal report on the Company’s risk management 
objectives, policy and management framework for inclusion in the Company’s 
annual report, including in relation to financial instruments;

• At least annually, review its constitution and terms of reference to ensure 
it is operating at maximum effectiveness and recommend any changes it 
considers necessary to the Board for approval. 

The Board is of the view that the Audit and Risk Committee has satisfied its 
responsibilities for the period, in compliance with its terms of reference. 14



Constitution
The Company was incorporated in Mauritius as a public company limited by shares in accordance with the Companies Act 2001 on 
20 April 2015 and holds a Category One Global Business Licence in accordance with the Companies Act 2001 and the Financial Services 
Act 2007 of Mauritius. 

The Company’s registered address is 3rd Floor, La Croisette, Grand Baie, Mauritius. The Company’s operational and executive management 
office is located at, 3rd Floor, La Croisette, Grand Baie, Mauritius. The Company’s primary objective is to achieve strong USD capital appreciation 
over the medium to long-term by investing in global, equity-dominated holdings of primarily direct, high-quality listed businesses, primarily 
in developed markets.There are no material clauses in the Company’s constitution.

Week of 21 March 2016 Board meeting to approve audited financials

30 March 2016 Finalise and release audited results

Week of 11 April  2016 Finalise and release Q1 results

Week of 6 June Issue the Notice of the AGM Finalise and release Annual Report

7 June 2016 Issue the Notice of the AGM 

29 June 2016 Hold AGM

Week of 18 July 2016 Board meeting to approve Q2 results

Week of 18 July 2016 Finalise and release Q2 results

Week of 17 October 2016 Board meeting to approve Q3 results

Week of 17 October 2016 Finalise and release Q3 results

Key Dates

Related Party Transactions
Related party transactions are disclosed in note 15 of the financial statements.

Shareholders’ Agreement Affecting the Governance of the Company
There was no such agreement during the reporting period. 

Third Party Management Agreement
The Company has entered into the Investment Management Agreement with the Investment Manager, Anchor Capital (Mauritius) Ltd, to 
manage the investment and re-investment of the company’s assets. 

Anchor Capital (Mauritius) Ltd was incorporated in Mauritius as a private company limited by shares in accordance with the Companies Act 
2001 on 22 October 2015 and holds a Category One Global Business Licence in accordance with the Companies Act 2001 and the Financial 
Services Act 2007 of Mauritius. It was granted an Investment Adviser (Unrestricted) Licence by the Financial Services Commission pursuant 
to Section 30 of the Securities Act 2005, Rule 5 of the Securities (Licensing) Rules 2007 and the Financial Services (Consolidated Licensing and 
Fees) Rules 2008 on the 26 October 2015. 

The Investment Manager will act as the sole investment manager of the company’s assets. The Investment Manager is subject to the 
supervision of the Board of the Company and is subject to a defined investment policy as set-out by the Board of the Company. The Board of 
the Company may review the investment policy from time to time.
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Donations
The Company did not make any donations during the reporting period.

Shareholder Relations and 
Communication
Subject always to regulatory restrictions, the Board aims to 
comprehensively understand and meet the information needs of all 
shareholders and places great importance on open and meaningful 
dialogue with all investors. The Board ensures that shareholders are 
kept informed on matters affecting the Company and open lines of 
communication are maintained as appropriate to ensure transparency 
and optimal disclosure. All Board members are requested to attend 
the Company’s annual general meetings.

Code of Ethics
The Company is committed to the highest standards of integrity and 
ethical conduct in dealing with all its shareholders.

Employee Share Schemes
The Company has no employees and accordingly there are no 
employee share plans.

Integrated Sustainability Report
The Company recognises that its operations and property assets 
are key elements of the communities in which they are located, in 
which economic, social and environmental issues are inter-related. 
The Company recognises the non-financial imperatives that this 
gives rise to, as set out below:

Ethical Approach to Business Conduct

The Company is committed to the highest standards of integrity and 
ethical conduct in dealing with all its stakeholders, and requires the 
same approach from all who act on its behalf.

Environment

The Company will comply with all environment protection legislation 
in all the jurisdictions in which it operates, including the Environment 
Protection Act 2002 (as amended) of Mauritius.

Corporate and Social Responsibility

The Company recognises that it has a responsibility to be involved in 
social issues which do not necessarily relate to the welfare of its own 
employees. For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company has 
made no such disbursements as it has recently been incorporated.
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Share Price Information
The price of the Company’s shares during the reporting period is set out below (in USD and ZAR).

On The SEM

On the AltX of JSE
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Directors’ Indemnity and Insurance
The Company indemnifies its directors in respect of their activities on behalf of the Company and procures appropriate directors and 
officers insurance cover. 
 

Directors Interests in the Company’s Shares
From the period of incorporation until 25 November 2015, Mr Geldenhuys was a director and shareholder of the Company’s previous sole 
shareholder, Sofrica Investment Company Ltd.

As at reporting date, Mr Peter Armitage had direct and indirect interest in the shares of the Company as follows:

Interest             Number of shares

Beneficial Non-beneficial Total

Direct 243,500 - 243,500

Indirect - 93,623 93,623

Total 243,500 93,623 337,123

The directors will follow the principles of the model code on securities transactions as set out in Appendix 6 of the SEM Listing Rules.

Auditors’ Fees
The fees payable to the auditors, for audit and other services during this period were:

Paid/ Payable to KPMG USD

Audit 20,125

Other Services 14,530
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2.1 The Board should act as the 

focal point for and custodian 

of corporate governance 

The Board is the focal point and custodian of corporate governance 

at Astoria. The Board may delegate some of its functions to 

specialised board committees. The Board has established a Corporate 

Governance Committee to ensure adequate oversight and monitor 

compliance to the various legal and regulatory requirements.

2.2 The Board should 

appreciate that strategy, 

risk, performance and 

sustainability are inseparable

The Board is responsible for aligning the strategic objectives, vision 

and mission with performance and sustainability considerations. 

The Board is guided by the interests of the Company and takes into 

account the interest of the stakeholders.

2.3 The Board should provide 

effective leadership based on 

an ethical foundation

The Board provides effective leadership and is committed to the 

highest levels of corporate governance. Directors are required to 

adhere to the code of ethical conduct adopted by the Board.

2.4 The Board should ensure that 

the Company is and is seen 

to be a responsible corporate 

citizen

Astoria’s Corporate Governance Committee effects the Company’s 

commitment to responsible corporate citizenship. The committee 

monitors compliance with adopted corporate governance principles 

and the effectiveness of the Company’s code of ethical conduct, which 

regulates its dealings with investors, clients, advisers, employees and 

the public generally.

2.5 The Board should ensure 

that the Company’s ethics are 

managed effectively

The Board has delegated the responsibility of implementing and 

monitoring the Company’s code of ethics and conduct to the 

Corporate Governance Committee.

2.6 The Board should ensure that 

the Company has an effective 

and independent audit 

committee

The Board is of the view that the Audit and Risk Committee has 

satisfied its responsibilities for the period, in compliance with its 

terms of reference. The Company did not have a minimum of two 

independent Directors during the period. However, the Board 

considers the Chairperson to have the requisite skills and experience 

to chair the Committee effectively.

2.7 The Board should be 

responsible for the 

governance of risk

The Board delegates the risk management process to the Audit and Risk 

Committee. The Company has not established a separate Board Risk 

Committee. Due to the Company’s size and the relative simplicity of its 

business model, the Board has decided the Company’s Audit and Risk 

Committee can adequately manage the risk management process.

KING III PRINCIPLE      Comment

King III Checklist Chapter 2 
The Company has a secondary listing on the AltX of theJSE, and although the Company is not required to comply with the King III Report 

in South Africa, as good practice, relevant sections of Chapter 2 (Boards and Directors) has been provided below and can be found on the 

Company’s website www.astoria.mu.  The Company seeks to fully comply with the principles of King III over time.



2.8 The Board should 

be responsible for 

information technology 

(IT) governance

The Board has oversight of IT through risk management. The daily 

administration of the Company is through the Company Secretary in 

Mauritius and its Investment Manager.

2.9 The Board should ensure 

that the Company 

complies with applicable 

laws and considers 

adherence to non-binding 

rules, codes

and standards

The Board’s Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for 

monitoring the Company’s compliance with all relevant legal and 

regulatory requirements within the jurisdictions in which the Company 

operates.

2.10 The Board should ensure 

that there is an effective 

risk-based internal audit

Astoria has not established an internal audit function, as the Board does 

not consider the cost justified given the Company’s size and the relative 

simplicity of its business model. The Board will consider the need for an 

internal audit function on an annual basis, taking account of advice from 

the Audit and Risk Committee and the Company’s auditors.

2.11 The Board should 

appreciate that 

stakeholders’ perceptions 

affect the Company’s 

reputation

The Board’s Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for 

monitoring the Company’s conduct and reputational risk profile, ensuring 

that the Company’s executives place appropriate emphasis on the 

Company’s reputation as part of the key decision-making process.

2.12 The Board should ensure 

the integrity of the 

Company’s integrated 

report

The Board is responsible for the integrity of the integrated report and 

approves the report prior to publication.

2.13 The Board should report 

on the effectiveness of 

the Company’s system of 

internal controls

The Board is responsible for the effectiveness of internal controls.

2.14 The Board and its 

directors should act in 

the best interests of the 

Company

The Board and its directors always act in the best interests of the 

Company. The Board has unrestricted access to all Company information, 

records, documents and property. Directors are required to declare 

conflicts of interests.
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2.15 The Board should consider 

business rescue proceedings or 

other turnaround mechanisms 

as soon as the Company is 

financially distressed as defined 

in the Act

No business rescue proceedings were required

2.16 The Board should elect a 

chairman of the board who is 

an independent non-executive 

director. The CEO of the 

Company should not also fulfil 

the role of chairman of the board

Astoria’s primary listing is on the SEM. The Mauritian Code of 

Corporate Governance allows for either a non-executive or 

independent non-executive chairperson. The Board has not yet 

elected a Chairperson, although one of the directors is nominated 

to perform this role at each Board meeting.

2.17 The Board should appoint the 

CEO and establish a framework 

for the delegation of authority

The Board has appointed a CEO, whose role and function is 

formulated in a Letter of Appointment.

2.18 The Board should comprise a 

balance of power, with a majority 

of non-executive directors. 

The majority of non-executive 

directors should be independent

Whilst the Board’s policy is that a majority of directors shall be 

independent and non-executive, the Board considered that whilst 

the Company was newly established, the expense of appointing 

additional independent non-executive directors was not justified

2.19 Directors should be appointed 

through a formal process

Directors are appointed following a formal process by the Board.  

2.20 The induction of and ongoing 

training and development of 

directors should be conducted 

through formal processes

It is the role of the Corporate Governance Committee to ensure 

that appropriate and timely induction is provided to new directors 

and on a continuing basis for all directors.

2.21 The Board should be assisted by 

a competent, suitably qualified 

and experienced Company 

Secretary

The Board is assisted by a competent, suitable qualified company 

secretary. The Board evaluates the company secretary on an 

annual basis.

2.22 The evaluation of the Board, its 

committees and the individual 

directors should be performed 

every year

The non-executive Directors will meet annually to discuss the 

functioning of the Board and the executive Directors.
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2.23 The Board should delegate certain 

functions to well-structured 

committees but without abdicating 

its own responsibilities

The Board established the Corporate Governance Committee 

and the Audit and Risk Committee to assist the Board in 

fulfilling its obligations. Each of these committees operates 

under formal terms of reference. The composition of the 

committees will be reviewed at least once a year by the 

Corporate Governance Committee to ensure a balance of 

specialist skills, independence and experience, in accordance 

with the Company’s guidelines.

2.24 A governance framework should be 

agreed between the group and its 

subsidiary boards

The Company did not have any subsidiaries during the period. 

2.25 Companies should remunerate 

directors and executives fairly 

and responsibly

The remuneration of the non-executive directors is 

recommended by the Corporate Governance Committee, 

approved by the Board and ultimately approved at the annual 

general meeting.

2.26 Companies should disclose the 

remuneration of each individual 

director and certain senior executives

The remuneration of directors is disclosed in the Corporate 

Governance Report

2.27 Shareholders should approve the 

Company’s remuneration policy

Shareholder approval for the Company’s remuneration policy 

has not been sought at the AGM. The Board will consider 

obtaining such approval, by way of a non-binding advisory 

vote in the future.
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The Audit and Risk Committee (“the Committee”) is an independent 
statutory committee comprising of three non-executive directors. The 
Committee has adopted specific responsibilities to the shareholders in 
terms of the Code of Corporate Governance for Mauritius, King Code 
of Governance Principles for South Africa and the Companies Act of 
Mauritius 2001.  The role of the Committee is to ensure the integrity of 
financial reporting and the audit process. In pursuing these objectives, 
the Committee oversees relations with and independence of the 
external auditors. The Committee also assists the Board in discharging 
its duties relating to the safeguarding of assets, the operation 
of adequate systems and internal control processes, overseeing 
the preparation of accurate financial reports and statements in 
compliance with all applicable legal requirements and accounting 
standards, ensuring compliance with good governance practices and 
nomination of external auditors. The external auditors and executive 
management are invited to attend every meeting.

Role of the Committee

The primary objective of the Committee is to provide the Board with 
additional assurance regarding the efficacy and reliability of the 
financial information used by the directors in order to assist them 
in discharging their duties. The Committee is required to provide 
comfort to the Board that adequate and appropriate financial and 
operating controls are in place, that significant business, financial 
and other risks have been identified and are being suitably 
managed, that the financial director has the appropriate expertise 
and experience and that satisfactory standards of governance, 
reporting and compliance are in operation. 

Members of the Committee

*Replaced by Mr Peter Todd on 31 January 2016

AUDIT & RISK
COMMITTEE REPORT

Director Qualification

Catherine McIlraith (Chairperson)  
Independent Non-Executive 

CA(SA) B.Acc

Peter Graham Armitage
Non-executive 

CA(SA) B.Co, B. Comp 
(Hons)

Lourens Geldenhuys
Non-executive *

CA (SA), M.Com 
(Corporate 
Restructuring)

Meetings held by the Committee

Meetings of the Committee will be held as frequently as the 
Committee considers appropriate, but will normally meet no fewer 
than four times a year. Special meetings are convened as required.

External auditor

The designated auditors are KPMG Mauritius. The Committee satisfied 
itself through enquiry that the external auditors are independent. 
Requisite assurance was sought and provided that internal 
governance processes within KPMG support and demonstrate the 
claim to independence. The Committee in consultation with the 
Board, agreed to the terms of the engagement. The audit fee for 
the external audit has been considered and approved taking into 
consideration factors such as the timing of the audit, the extent of 
the work required and the scope. 

Accounting Practices and
Internal Control 

The Board has ultimate responsibility for the internal, financial 
and operating systems of the Company and for monitoring of their 
effectiveness. These systems are designed to provide reasonable 
assurance against material misstatement and loss. 

The systems, which are monitored by the Committee on an ongoing 
basis in order to adopt to changing business circumstances 
are designed to provide reasonable safeguards regarding: 

• Unauthorised disposal or use of Company’s assets;
• Compliance with the relevant legislation and regulations; and
• The maintenance of proper accounting records.

Legal and Regulatory Compliance 
The Committee has complied with all applicable legal, regulatory 
and other responsibilities for the financial period.

Financial Director
As required by the SEM Listing Rules and the JSE Listings 
Requirements, the Committee confirms that the Company’s financial 
director Ms Tiffany Ann Purves, has the necessary expertise and 
experience to carry out her duties. 

Going concern 

The Committee has reviewed a documented assessment, including 
key assumptions, prepared by management of the going concern 
status of the Company and has accordingly made recommendation 
to the Board that the Company will continue to operate as a going 
concern for the foreseeable future.
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Internal audit 

Due to the size of the Company no internal audit function has been established. 
The need for internal audit will be considered and assessed going forward. 

Terms of engagement and fees paid to 
external auditor

The Committee, in consultation with the Board, agreed to the engagement 
letter, terms, audit plan and budgeted audit fees for the financial period 
ended 31 December 2015. The Committee considered the fee to be fair 
and appropriate. Information relating to non-audit services provided by the 
appointed external auditors of the Company has been disclosed in the notes 
to the Annual Financial Statements. 

Purpose
The Committee’s purpose and responsibilities are laid out in detail in the 
Corporate Governance Report.

Annual Financial Statements 

Following our review of the Annual Financial Statements for the period ended 
31 December 2015, we are of the opinion that, in all material respects, they 
comply with the relevant provisions of the Mauritius Companies Act 2001 and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) and that they fairly present 
the financial position at 31 December 2015 for Astoria Investments Ltd and 
the results of operations and cash flows for the period then ended. They were 
recommended to the Board for approval. 

Catherine McIllrath
CA (SA) B Acc

Audit & Risk Committee Chairman 
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INVESTMENT 
MANAGERS’ REPORT

Dear Astoria Board

It is with great pleasure that we present the inaugural investment 
management report to newly-listed Astoria Investments Ltd. In 
this report, we present an overview of the portfolio, investment 
thesis on some of the key holdings and reiterate the Anchor Capital 
(Mauritius) Ltd strategy and broad investment philosophy for the 
management of the portfolio.

As at 31 December 2015, the Astoria mandate was approximately 
five weeks into the investment process. Astoria listed on the JSE 
on the 25th November 2015, while at this point it had been listed 
in Mauritius for two weeks. The Mauritian listing constituted the 
original USD 1 million portfolio that began trading in late June 
2015. The JSE listing was used as the primary capital raise, where 
Astoria was able to set a record for a private client IPO in South 
Africa in raising almost USD127 million. The initial capital raise had 
a NAV per share of R14.23, and following this process the funds 
were externalized at an average exchange rate of R14.39/$. This 
proved timely as shortly after, the USD/ZAR exchange rate came 
under material pressure as the unexpected dismissal of South 
Africa’s market-respected Finance Minister resulted in material 
weakness in the Rand. Despite some strength year to date, at 
the time of writing the Rand remains weaker than levels at which 
Astoria externalized its IPO proceeds.

The key objective of the business is to achieve a strong compound 
growth in USD$ net asset value per share. This will be achieved 
through an investment mix comprising listed equities, niche funds 
and private equity opportunities. The benchmark for listed equities 
is 60% of the net asset value and this comprised 28% of the 
portfolio at the 2015 year-end. The benchmark for niche funds is 
20%, although the investment proportion will depend on where we 
see value globally and from a thematic perspective. The remaining 
20% has been earmarked for private equity opportunities. Astoria 
made commitments to some big global private equity fund 
managers in the first half of 2016. Given the uncertain short-term 
outlook for equities, we are actively exploring global private equity 
co-investment opportunities and hence the weighting to private 
equity might exceed the longer-term benchmarks. We will always 
endeavour to position the company funds in the sectors where the 
strongest growth potential exists.

December saw the commencement of investment of the IPO 
proceeds, however due to significant global market volatility we 
have elected to adopt a cautious approach in deployment of the 
cash. The first direct equity investments mirrored some of the 
existing holdings pre-IPO, adding weight to high conviction stocks 
and holding back on others. During the roadshow we highlighted 
areas we believed were attractive to investors, including niche 
funds and private equity. We began the subscription process into 
our first niche fund, the Capricorn GEM fund, an emerging-market 
focused long/short equity hedge fund with an exceptional track 
record of returns in varying market conditions. This investment was 
completed on 4 January 2016. The due diligence and investment 
process for Astoria’s first private equity opportunity, Just Buy, was 

finalized on 14 January 2016. This Indian mobile technology company 
is a business which seeks to improve retail and goods distribution 
between major FMCG manufacturers and the fragmented “mom and 
pop” retailer base comprising a significant chunk of consumption 
expenditure within major Indian cities. This investment comprises 
less than 1% of the net asset value of the company.

With regard to the portfolio’s direct equity investment, we have 
concentrated on high quality, attractively priced and premium 
brand companies. As at the end of the period the top 10 holdings 
(comprising 18.7% of the NAV of Astoria, or 55.9% of the direct equity 
portfolio) included:

• Pandora A/S
• Unilever Plc
• JP Morgan
• Johnson & Johnson
• Alphabet (previously Google)
• Facebook
• Admiral Group Plc
• Amazon
• Mastercard
• Wells Fargo

Geographically, we concentrated on developed markets in the 
deployment of capital into direct equities, although the underlying 
companies may have geographical exposures which differ from the 
below split:

North America  68.20%
Europe   15.99%
United Kingdom  15.70%
Other     0.11%

Individual Company Overviews
Alphabet (Google)

Alphabet remains categorically represented by Google, which 
accounts for 99% of group revenue and 120% of group EBIT. Revenues 
are primarily generated through ads served on a group of ubiquitous 
Google-owned online properties, including Google.com, YouTube, 
Gmail, Google Finance, Google Maps & Google Apps. A growing 
network of affiliated websites also serves ads via Google’s ad delivery 
platform in a revenue sharing model. The Company’s profits are being 
reinvested into several “next generation” ventures at an increasing 
rate, which now warrant investors’ attention.

Why we like it
The group’s core business, Google, continues to dominate online 
advertising through its consolidated “adtech” stack. Rather than 
depend on content providers for traffic, Google has developed a group 
of prize internet properties which collectively allow for the aggregation, 
consumption and even creation of content across the “multi-screen” 
ecosystem in which we live. We believe relentless innovation within 
this ecosystem will continue to drive growth in user count, usage levels 
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and ultimately revenues over the long term ahead of the apparent 
systemic deflation in online ad prices. The group’s new structure 
under holding company “Alphabet” provides improved visibility and 
implies a shareholder-friendly approach to the deployment of capital 
into new ventures. A re-rating may well occur over time as investors 
attribute value to both the returns that these new ventures earn and 
the new markets they define.

Pandora A/S
Pandora A/S was established in 1982 and is a Danish-headquartered 
manufacturer of affordable jewellery. The group’s products include 
charm bracelets, rings, earrings, necklaces and pendants. The group’s 
production facilities are located in Thailand, while products are sold 
in over 100 countries around the world in 9,300 points of sale. The 
Company is listed on the Copenhagen Stock Exchange.

Why we like it
Pandora’s business model of locating its production facilities in low-
cost Thailand, while selling its products principally developed markets 
results in high margins (70% GP, 35% EBIT) and returns on equity 
(55%+). In addition, the group’s refocus on core product lines in recent 
years as well as its strategy to drive branded concept store expansions 
around the world (at the expense of third-party, “silver” sales outlets) 
has raised the profile of the brand with consumers and continues to 
drive strong top-line growth in key markets. The group is increasingly 
focussing its efforts on jewellery categories outside of charm bracelets 
(rings, earrings etc) and thus diversifying its product set. The group’s 
collaboration with the Walt Disney Company will, in our opinion, serve 
to entrench the brand in the eyes of consumers. New markets such as 
China and Japan (almost 1/3 of the global jewellery market) represent 
a large untapped opportunity for Pandora.

Anchor Capital Investment 
Philosophy and Approach
Our core investment beliefs and what we look for in companies

• Quality first – while we are valuation-centric, we are happy to pay 
premium ratings for premium businesses where growth outlook, 
return metrics and cash flows warrant this

• To our minds, value is a function of growth and these concepts 
cannot be separated

• Liquidity (or lack thereof) deserves a big premium (discount)
• We place a premium on good management – entrepreneurial 

teams are serial value creators, and this often cannot be captured 
easily in a spreadsheet

• Simple, easy to understand business models.
• Businesses that possess optionality and the opportunity to scale 

their business models.
• Businesses with the clear opportunity to deploy the incremental 

capital they are generating.
• Where the above is not possible, a clear intention to return 

excess capital to shareholders via buy-backs or more aggressive 
dividend policy.

• Capital-light business models. We love businesses that generate 
earnings without having to deploy their own capital. Growing 
franchise businesses especially fit this mould.

• Market consolidators where the business has the opportunity 
to grow accretively via acquisitions and organically. High 
margin businesses are preferable, but return on equity is more 
important. We don’t mind investing in structurally low margin 
companies as long as the balance sheet structure allows for 
superior returns on capital.

Bryan Rudd
Chief Investment Manager
Anchor Capital (Mauritius) Ltd

26



DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITIES
AND APPROVAL
The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for:

1. Adequate reporting records and maintenance of effective internal control systems;
2. The preparation of financial statements which fairly present the state of affairs of the Company as at 

the end of the financial period and the results of its operations and cash flows for that period and which 
comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and the Mauritius Companies Act 2001;

3. The selection of appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgements.

The external auditors are responsible for reporting on whether the financial statements are fairly presented.

The directors report that:

1. Adequate accounting records and an effective system of internal controls and risk management have 
been maintained;

2. Appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates have 
been used consistently;

3. International Financial Reporting Standards have been adhered to.  Any departure in the interest of fair 
presentation has been disclosed, explained and quantified;

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors
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SECRETARY’S
CERTIFICATION
AS PER SECTION 166(D) OF THE MAURITIUS COMPANIES ACT 2001

We certify to the best of our knowledge and belief that we have filed with the Registrar of Companies all 
such returns as are required of Astoria Investments Ltd (previously known as Sofrica Holdings Ltd) under the 
Mauritius Companies Act 2001 for the period from 20 April 2015 (date of incorporation) to 31 December 2015.
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For Osiris Corporate Solutions (Mauritius) Limited
Secretary

Date: 22 March 2016



INDEPENDENT
AUDITORS’ REPORT
We have audited the financial statements of Astoria Investments Ltd (previously known as Sofrica Holdings Ltd) (the “Company”), which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015 and the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
changes in equity and cash flows for the period then ended, and the notes to the financial statements which include a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 31 to 51.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 205 of the Mauritius Companies Act. Our audit 
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters that we are required to state in an auditors’ 
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and in compliance with the requirements of the Mauritius Companies Act, and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
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Opinion

In our opinion, these financial statements give a true and fair view of 
the financial position of Astoria Investments Ltd (previously known 
as Sofrica Holdings Ltd) as at 31 December 2015, and of its financial 
performance and cash flows for the period then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and in compliance with 
the requirements of the Mauritius Companies Act.

Report on Other Legal and 
Regulatory Requirements
Mauritius Companies Act 
We have no relationship with or interests in the Company other than in 
our capacities as auditors and business advisors. 
We have obtained all the information and explanations we have required.  
In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the 
Company as far as it appears from our examination of those records.

KPMG                         
Vivek Gujadhur
Ebène, Mauritius                         
Licensed by FRC

Date: 22 March 2016
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STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

ASSETS

Note Figures in $’000

Non-current assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 8 34,730

Current assets

Advance on investment 10 5,000

Cash and cash equivalents 11 83,437

Trade and other receivables 24

Total current assets 88,461

Total assets 123,191

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Note 

Equity

Stated capital 12 124,504 

Accumulated losses (1,671)

Total equity 122,833

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 13 358 

Total current liabilities 358

Total equity and Liabilities 123,191
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STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the period from 20 April 2015 to 31 December 

Figures in $’000 Note 2015

Revenue

Dividend income 6

Interest income 16

Net gain from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 8 121

Total revenue 143

Expenses

General and administrative expense    9 (360) 

Operating loss (217)

Net foreign exchange loss (1,454)

Loss for the period before tax (1,671)

Taxation 7 -

Loss for the period after tax (1,671)

Total comprehensive income for the period (1,671)

Loss per share from continuing operations

Basic loss per share (cents) 14 (a) (3)
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STATEMENT OF 
CHANGES IN EQUITY

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Figures in $’000 Stated Capital Accumulated losses Total

Transactions with owners of the Company

Contributions and distributions

Issue of ordinary shares 126,810 - 126,810 

Share issue costs (2,306) - (2,306)

Total contributions 124,504 - 124,504

Total comprehensive income for the period

Loss for the period - (1,671) (1,671) 

Total comprehensive income - (1,671) (1,671)

Balance at 31 December 2015 124,504 (1,671) 122,833

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE PERIOD FROM 20 APRIL 2015 

(DATE OF INCORPORATION) TO 31 DECEMBER 2015 
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STATEMENT OF 
CASH FLOWS
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE PERIOD FROM 20 APRIL 2015 

(DATE OF INCORPORATION) TO 31 DECEMBER 2015 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the period from 20 April 2015 to 31 December 2015

Figures in $’000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Loss before  tax (1,671)

Adjustments for:

Net gain from revaluation of  financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (121)

Net foreign exchange loss 1,454

(338)

Changes in working capital:

Increase in trade and other receivables (24)

Increase in trade and other payables 358

Net cash used in operating activities (4)

Cash flows from investing activities:

Acquisition of financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss (34,609)

Advance made on investment (5,000)

Net cash used in investing activities (39,609)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares 126,810

Share issue costs (2,306)

Net cash from financing activities 124,504

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 84,891

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period -

Effect on exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents (1,454)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period (Note 11) 83,437
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
NOTES TO FINANCIALS

1.General Information
Astoria Investments Ltd (“the Company”) was incorporated in the 
Republic of Mauritius on 20 April 2015 as a public company limited by 
shares and has its registered office address at 3rd Floor, La Croisette, 
Grand Baie, Republic of Mauritius. The Company holds a Category 1 
Global Business Licence issued by the Financial Services Commission 
in terms of the Financial Services Act 2007. The Company has its 
primary listing on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius (“SEM”) and a 
secondary listing on the Alternative Exchange of the Johannesburg 
Stock Exchange (“JSE”). As from 10 February 2016, the Company holds 
an additional secondary listing on the main board of the Namibian 
Stock Exchange (NSX). The principal objective of the Company is that 
of investment holding.

2.Basis Of Preparation
Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS) as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and in 
compliance with the requirements of the Mauritius Companies Act.

Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical 
cost basis except for financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss which are measured at fair value.

Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in the United States dollars 
(USD) which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. 
Unless otherwise specified in the financial statements, all financial 
information is presented to the nearest thousand. During the 
period, the Company changed its functional currency from Great 
British Pound (GBP) to the USD as explained in note on Judgements 
below.

Use of the estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements requires management 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ 
from those estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. Revision to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods 
affected.

Judgements
In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, 
management has made the following judgments, which have the most 

significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements:

Functional currency
Functional currency is the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the Company operates. During the period, 
the Company changed its functional currency from GBP to the 
USD effective 10 July 2015 since the majority of the Company’s 
transactions are denominated in USD, therefore USD has been 
used as the functional currency as it is aligned with its regulatory 
requirement and future business strategy. If indicators of the 
primary economic environment are mixed, then management 
uses its judgement to determine the functional currency that 
most faithfully represents the economic effect of the underlying 
transactions, events and conditions. 

As from 10 July 2015, the Company’s primary objective was 
reformulated and its objective is now to generate strong USD 
returns to its investors. Financing of the Company, mostly in the 
form of equity, has changed denomination from GBP to USD and 
the Company’s performance is now being measured and evaluated 
in USD. Given these factors, the directors have determined the 
change of functional currency to USD as appropriate.  

Going Concern
The directors are of the opinion that the Company has adequate 
resources to continue operating for the foreseeable future and 
that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing 
the Company’s financial statements. The directors have satisfied 
themselves that the Company is in a sound financial position 
and that it has access to sufficient funding facilities to meet its 
foreseeable cash requirements.

Estimates and Assumptions
Information about critical estimates and assumptions in applying 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the 
amount recognised in the financial statements is included in the 
following notes or accounting policies:

Note 3  - Impairment of financial assets
Note 3 and 7  - Tax recognition of deferred tax and utilisation  
    of tax losses

3.Significant Accounting Policies 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently 
to the whole period presented in these financial statements.

Revenue and expenses recognition
Income is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 
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economic benefits will flow to the Company and the income can be reliably 
measured. Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive income is 
established. Usually this is the ex-dividend date for equity securities. Dividend 
income from equity securities designated at fair value through profit or loss is 
recognised in the “dividend income” line in the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income.

Interest income is recognised in the profit or loss for all interest-bearing financial 
instruments using the effective interest method.
Net gain/loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss includes all 
realised and unrealised fair value changes and foreign exchange differences, 
but excludes interest and dividend income.
Net realised gain/loss from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is 
calculated using the average cost method.  

Expenses are recognised in profit or loss on an accrual basis.

Taxation
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in 
profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or 
items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable 
income or loss for the period. It is measured using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax 
arising from dividends.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and 
the amounts used for taxation purposes.

Deferred tax is not recognised for:

• Temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in 
a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither 
accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

• Temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates 
and joint arrangement to the extent that the Company is able to control the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that 
they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

• Taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits 
and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. Deferred 
tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised; such 
reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves. 

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and 
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits 
will be available against which they can be used.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied 
to temporary differences when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date.The measurement of deferred tax 
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which 
the Company expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset 
only if certain criteria are met.
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Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional 
currency of the Company at the date of transactions. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate at 
the financial reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities 
that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 
into the functional currency at the exchange rate when the fair value 
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured based on 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange 
rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences are 
generally recognised in profit or loss.

Any change in functional currency is applied prospectively from the 
date of change.

Financial instruments
Recognition
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
are recognised initially on the trade date at which the Company 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
Other financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the date they 
are originated.

Financial assets and financial liabilities categorised at fair value 
through profit or loss are measured initially at fair value, with 
transaction costs recognised in profit or loss. Financial assets or 
financial liabilities not categorised at fair value through profit or 
loss are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.

Classification
The Company has adopted the following classifications for financial 
assets and financial liabilities:

Financial assets:
• Financial instruments designated at fair value through profit 

or loss upon initial recognition. These include investment in 
listed securities that are not held for trading purposes and 
which may be sold. The Company has designated certain 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss when the 
assets are managed, evaluated and reported internally on a 
fair value basis.

• Loans and other receivables – cash and cash equivalents, 
advance on investment and trade and other receivables, 
excluding prepayments.

• Loans and other receivables are financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus 
any directly attributable transaction costs. 

Financial liabilities:
• Other liabilities – trade and other payables

Subsequent recognition
Subsequent to initial recognition, all instruments classified 
as financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are 
measured at fair value with changes in their fair value recognised 
in profit or loss.  Financial assets classified as loans and receivables 
are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method, less impairment losses if any. Financial liabilities are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial 
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on the initial recognition.

Derecognition
The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual 
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when it 
transfers the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are 
transferred or in which the Company neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and does not 
retain control of the financial asset.

Any interest in transferred financial assets that qualify for 
derecognition that is created or retained by the Company is 
recognised as a separate asset or liability in the statement 
of financial position. On derecognition of a financial asset, 
the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or 
the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset 
derecognised), and the consideration received (including any new 
asset obtained less any new liability assumed) is recognised in 
profit or loss.

The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual 
obligations are discharged or cancelled or expired.

Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount 
presented in the statement of financial position when, and only 
when, the Company has a legal right to set off the recognised 
amounts and it intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of call deposits with 
banks and highly liquid financial assets with maturities of three 
months or less from the date of acquisition that are subject to 
an insignificant risk of changes in fair value and are used by the 
Company in the management of short-term commitments.
 

Fair value measurement principles
‘Fair Value’ is a price that would be received to sell an asset or paid 
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its 
absence, the most advantageous market to which the Company 
has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-
performance risk. When available, the Company measures the 
fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active 
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market for that instrument. A market is regarded as ‘active’ if transactions 
for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to 
provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. The Company measures 
instruments quoted in an active market at a mid-price, because this price 
provides a reasonable approximation of the exit price. 

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Company uses 
valuation techniques that maximize the use of relevant observable inputs 
and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation 
technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would 
take into account in pricing a transaction.

Impairment
Non-derivative financial assets

Financial assets not classified as at fair value through profit or loss are 
assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective 
evidence of impairment.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired include:

• Default or delinquency by a debtor;
• Restructuring of an amount due to the Company on terms that the 

Company would not consider otherwise;
• Indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy;
• Adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers;
• The disappearance of an active market for a security;
• Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the 

expected cash flows from a group of financial assets.

The Company considers evidence of impairment for these assets at both 
an individual asset and a collective level. All individually significant assets 
are individually assessed for impairment. Those found not to be impaired 
are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred 
but not yet individually identified. Assets that are not individually significant 
are collectively assessed for impairment. Collective assessment is carried 
out by grouping together assets with similar risk characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment, the Company uses historical information 
on the timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, and makes an 
adjustment if current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual 
losses are likely to be greater or lesser than suggested by historical trends.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised 
cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying amount and the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s 
original effective interest rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and 
reflected in an allowance account. When the Company considers that there 
are no realistic prospects of recovery of the asset, the relevant amounts 
are written off. If the amount of impairment loss subsequently decreases 
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised, then the previously recognised impairment 
loss is reversed through profit or loss.

Provisions
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has 
a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, 
and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation. 38



4.Standards Issued But Not Yet Effective
A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2015 and earlier 
application is permitted; however, the Company has not early applied the following new or amended standards in preparing the financial 
statements.

New or amended 
standards

Summary of the requirements
Possible impact on 
financial statements

IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments

IFRS 9, published in July 2014, replaces the existing 
guidance in IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 includes revised 
guidance on the classification and measurement of 
financial instruments, a new expected credit loss model 
for calculating impairment on financial assets, and new 
general hedge accounting requirements. It also carries 
forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition 
of financial instruments from IAS 39. IFRS 9 is effective 
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2018, with early adoption permitted.

The Company is assessing the potential impact 
on its financial statements resulting from the 
application of IFRS 9. So far, it has concluded 
that adoption of IFRS 9 will not have a material 
impact on the financial statements.

IFRS 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with 
Customers

IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for 
determining whether, how much and when revenue 
is recognised. It replaces existing revenue recognition 
guidance, including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction 
Contracts and IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes. 
IFRS 15 is effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early adoption 
permitted

The Company is assessing the potential impact 
on its financial statements  resulting from the 
application of IFRS 15. So far, it has concluded 
that adoption of IFRS 15 will not have a 
material impact on the financial statements.

Disclosure Initiative 
(Amendments to 
IAS 1)

The amendments provide additional guidance on 
the application of materiality and aggregation when 
preparing financial statements. The amendments also 
clarify presentation principles applicable to the order 
of notes, of equity accounted investees and subtotals 
presented in the statement of financial position and 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income. The amendments apply for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2016 and early 
application is permitted.

It is not expected that the adoption of the 
amendments will have a material impact on 
the financial statements.

The following new or amended standards are not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s financial statements on adoption 
at their respective effective dates:

• IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts
• Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations (Amendments to IFRS 11)
• Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation (Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38)
• Agriculture: Bearer Plants (Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41)
• Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (Amendments to IAS 27)
• Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle – various standards
• Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28)
• Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 7)
• Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses (Amendments to IAS 12)
• IFRS 16 Leases
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5.Financial Risk Management

Overview
The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of 
financial instruments:

• credit risk
• liquidity risk
• market risk

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure 
to each of the above risks, the Company’s objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Company’s 
management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included 
throughout these financial statements.

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and 
oversight of the Company’s risk management framework. 

The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify 
and analyse the risks faced by the Company, to set appropriate risk 
limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. 
Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to 
reflect changes in market conditions and the Company’s activities. 
The Company has appointed an Investment Manager to manage its 
investments along with advising on the different investment risks.

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer 
or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, 
advance on investment and trade and other receivables, excluding 
prepayments. The Company manages credit risks by banking with 
reputable institutions and dealing with renowned custodians and 
brokers for its investment purposes.

As at 31 December 2015, the financial assets held by the Company 
are not past due or impaired. The carrying amount of financial assets 
represent the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to 
credit risk at the reporting date was: 

Figures in $’000 2015

Cash and cash equivalents 83,437 

Advance on investment 5,000 

Trade and other receivables 5 

88,442

Financial assets exclude prepayments amounting to USD 19,000.
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31 December 2015 

Figures in $’000 2015

Financial Assets
Due on 

demand

3 to 12 

months

More than 

12 months

Total

Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss
- - 34,730 34,730 

Cash and cash equivalents 83,437 - - 83,437 

Advance on investment 5,000 - - 5,000 

Trade and other receivables 5 - 5

88,437 5 34,730 123,172

Financial Liabilities

Trade and other payables - (358) - (358)

Net position 88,437 (353) 34,730 122,814

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company’s approach to 
managing liquidity is to ensure that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they become due without incurring 
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation. The Company’s liquidity risk is managed by the Investment Manager in 
accordance with policies and procedures in place.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial assets and financial liabilities. The amounts are gross and undiscounted. Undiscounted 
cash flows in respect of balances due with 12 months generally equal their carrying amounts in the statement of financial position, as the 
impact of discounting is not significant.

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the Company’s 
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk 
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

Currency risk

The functional currency of the Company is USD and it is exposed to currency risk as its financial assets are denominated in various other 
currencies. The other currencies in which the transactions are primarily denominated are Great British pound (GBP), Swiss franc (CHF), Danish 
krone (DKK), Japanese yen (JPY), Euro (EUR) and South African rand (ZAR). 

Currently, the Company does not hedge its foreign exchange positions. The Board monitors the foreign currency exposure on an ongoing basis.
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Figures in $’000 2015

Financial Assets Financial Liabilities 

USD 112,130 211 

GBP 5,434 118 

DKK 2,373 -

CHF 1,634 -

EUR 1,551 -

JPY 37 -

ZAR 13 29 

123,172 358

Sensitivity analysis

Any reasonably possible strengthening or weakening of the USD against all other currencies as at 31 December 2015 would have affected the 
measurement of financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency and affected equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. 
This analysis assumes all variables to remain constant.

31 December 2015 

Figures in $’000 Profit or Loss Equity, net of tax

Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening

GBP (10% movement) (483) 591 (483) 591

CHF (10% movement) (149) 182 (149) 182 

DKK (10% movement) (216) 264 (216) 264 

JPY (10% movement) (3) 4 (3) 4 

EUR (10% movement) (141) 172 (141) 172 

ZAR (10% movement) 1 (2) 1 (2) 

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the reporting date and had 
been applied to the Company’s exposure to currency risk for financial instruments in existence at that date, and that all other variables, in 
particular interest rates, remain constant.

The stated changes represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates over the period until the 
next annual reporting date. Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent the effects on the Company’s profits/reserves 
measured in foreign currencies, translated into USD at the exchange rate ruling at the reporting date.
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Currency profile

The currency profile of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities is summarised as follows:



Interest rate risk

The Company’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. The Company’s interest 
bearing financial assets are cash at bank. Interest income may fluctuate in amount, in particular due to changes in interest rates but this is 
monitored on an ongoing basis. The impact of interest rate risk is considered to be immaterial.

Sensitivity analysis on interest rate risk

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk only to the extent that it earns bank interest on cash and cash equivalents.  Since the directors 
consider interest rate risk to be insignificant, no sensitivity analysis on interest rate risk has been presented.

Other market price risk

Other market price risk is the risk that the fair value of the financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices (other 
than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether caused by factors to individual investment or its issue or factors affecting 
all instruments traded in the market. The Company is exposed to price risk on its investments which are listed on New York Stock Exchange, 
SIX Swiss Exchange, NASDAQ Copenhagen Stock Exchange, NASDAQ and London Stock Exchange Group.

The Board of Directors monitors the Company’s overall market positions on an ongoing basis. The investment manager moderates the risk 
through careful selection of securities. The Board’s best estimate of the effect on profit or loss and equity due to a reasonably possible change 
in equity prices of its investment securities, with all other variables held constant, is as follows:

Figures in $’000

Year % Change in equity prices Effect on profit or loss and equity

2015 -1% (347)

1% 347

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the reasonably possible changes in the stock market index had occurred at the 
reporting date and had been applied to the exposure to equity price risk in existence at that date.  It is also assumed that the fair values of the 
equity instruments held by the Company would change in accordance with the historical correlation with the relevant stock market index, that 
none of the Company’s investments would be considered impaired as a result of a reasonably possible decrease in the relevant stock market 
index and that all other variables remain constant. The stated changes represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes 
in the relevant stock market index over the period until the next annual reporting date. 

CONCENTRATION OF INVESTMENTS

The below table shows the concentration of 
investments held by geographical area:

Country % Invested 

United States 68.25%

United Kingdom 15.64%

Denmark 6.83%

Switzerland 4.70%

Germany 4.47%

Japan 0.11%

Total 100%
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The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into 
Level I to III based on the degree to which the fair value is observable.

The levels are defined as follows:

• Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical financial instruments.
• Level 2: fair values measured using quoted prices in active markets for similar financial instruments, or using valuation techniques in 

which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly based on observable market data.
• Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured using valuation techniques in which any significant input is not based on observable market 

data.

Fair value hierarchy table – Financial assets measured at fair value

Assets and liabilities not measured at fair value 

Disclosure of other assets and liabilities not measured at fair value for the Company into the fair value hierarchy table has not been provided 
for since the carrying amount of these assets and liabilities approximate their fair values.

Capital risk management
The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital ratios in order to support its business 
and maximise shareholder value.  Capital comprises equity.  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may issue new 
shares or seek to raise bank debt. Management monitors the return on capital as well as the level of dividends to ordinary shareholders.

The Board reviews the Company’s capital structure, cost of capital and gearing levels. At reporting date, the Company has been financed 
exclusively through equity. Total equity at reporting date amounted to USD 122,833,000.

Fair value estimation
The fair values for both financial assets and liabilities together with the carrying amounts in the statement of financial position are as follows:

Figures in $’000

Financial Assets Carrying amount 2015 Fair value 2015

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 34,730 34,730

Advance on investment 5,000 5,000

Other receivables 5 5

Cash and cash equivalents 83,437 83,437

123,172 123,172 

Financial Liabilities 

Trade and other payables 358 358

31 December 2015

Figures in $’000

Financial Assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 34,730 - - 34,730
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6.Classification Of Financial Assets And Liabilities
The table below provides a reconciliation of the line items in the Company’s statement of financial position to the categories of financial 
instruments.

7.Taxation
The taxation of income and capital gains of the Company is subject to the fiscal laws and practice in Mauritius, the countries in which the 
Company invests and the jurisdiction in which shareholders are resident or otherwise subject to tax.  The following is a summary based on 
the taxation laws and practice in force, which may be subject to change.

The Company, under current laws and regulations, is liable to pay income tax on its net income at the rate of 15%.  

The tax losses arising in a period can be carried forward for set-off against income derived in the five succeeding income years.  Capital gains 
are not subject to tax.

The reconciliation between the tax expense and tax calculated at the effective rate of 3% is as follows:

Figures in $’000 2015

Loss for the period (1,671) 

Tax reconciliation 

Income tax at effective tax rate (251) 

Non allowable expenses 218 

Exempt income

Interest from foreign bank accounts (2)

Unrealised gain on revaluation of investments (18)

Deferred tax not recognised 53

Income tax charge for the period - 

Figures in $’000

Financial Assets
Fair value through 

profit or loss

Loan and 

receivables

Financial 

liabilities
Total

Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss 
34,730 - - 34,730

Advance on investment - 5,000 - 5,000

Other receivables - 5 - 5

Cash and cash equivalents - 83,437 - 83,457

Total 34,730 88,442 - 123,172

Financial Liabilities

Trade and other payables - - 358 358

- - 358 358
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Figures in $’000 2015

Professional fees 112 

Management fees 103 

Brokerage fees 53 

Director fees 47 

Audit fees 20 

Marketing expenses 8 

Registrar of companies fee 4 

Travelling expenses 3

Other general expenses 4

Accounting fees 3

Administrative expenses 2

Custodian fees 1

360

Unrelieved tax losses carried forward are available to set-off against future income derived in the following five income years. The time 
limit of five years shall not apply for the carry forward of any amount of losses attributable to annual allowance claimed in respect of capital 
expenditure. The Company has not recognised deferred tax asset in respect of tax losses carried forward since the directors are of opinion 
that no taxable profits will be available against which tax losses may be utilised.

8.Financial Assets At Fair Value Through Profit Or Loss

9.General And Administrative Expenses

Figures in $’000 2015

Cost at 20 April 2015 - 

Additions 34,609 

Cost at 31 December 2015 34,609 

Net change in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 121 

Fair value at 31 December 2015 34,730 

The investments are for long-term capital appreciation and are not intended to be disposed of within 12 months from the reporting 
date.

Figures in $’000 2015

Net change in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss consists of:

Net unrealised gains on fair value of quoted equity securities 121

Fair value at 31 December 2015 121

Professional fees of USD111,811 consists mainly of one-off setup and listing fees. 46



10.Advance on Investment

The Company has made a Class A contribution of USD 5,000,000 in respect of Capricorn GEM Fund L.P. The partnership interest is expected 
to be allotted to the Company within 12 months from the reporting date. Hence, the advance on investment is classified as current assets on 
the statement of financial position.

11.Cash and Cash Equivalents

Figures in $’000 2015

Amount held with Quintillion Ltd, a fund administration company registered in the United Kingdom 5,000 

5,000

Figures in $’000 2015

Cash and cash equivalents consists of the following: 

Cash at bank 53,437 

Short-term deposits 30,000

83,437

Cash and cash equivalents are held in the following currencies:

United States dollars 83,422 

South African rands 13

Great British pound 1

Swiss Franc & Japanese yen 1

83,437

12.Stated Capital

2015 Shares Figures in $’000

Issued during the period:

On 20 April 2015 100 -

On 26 June 2015 992,442 993 

On 23 November 2015 315,000 315 

On 30 November 2015 125,502,402 125,502 

Total number of shares issued during the period  126,809,944 126,810

Share issuance costs - (2,306)

Balance at 31 December 2015 126,809,944 124,504
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The ordinary shares are at USD 1 par value. The shareholder holding the ordinary shares shall be entitled to cast one vote for each ordinary 
share so held with respect to all matters subject to approval of the shareholders under the Constitution. Each shareholder is entitled to 
dividends. 

13.Trade and Other Payables

Figures in $’000 2015

Accrued expenses 358 

14.Loss Per Share and Headline Loss Per Share
The calculation of basic loss per share has been based on the loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted-average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding as at 31 December 2015. The calculation of headline loss per share has been based on headline loss attributable 
to ordinary shareholders and the weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding at 31 December 2015. There are no reconciling 
items between loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and headline loss attributable to ordinary shareholders. Astoria has no dilutionary 
instruments in issue.

Figures in $’000 2015

(i)  Loss attributable to ordinary shareholders (basic) 

Loss attributable to ordinary shareholders 1,671 

(ii)  Weighted-average number of ordinary shares (basic) Number of shares

Issued ordinary shares at 20 April 2015 -

Effect of shares issued in June 2015 131 

Effect of shares issued in November 2015 55,474

55,605 

(a)  Loss per share (cents) (3) 

(b)  Headline loss per share (cents) (3)
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15.Related Party Transactions
During the period ended 31 December 2015, the Company traded with related entities. The nature, volume of transactions and the balances 
with the entities are as follows:

Peter Todd is the director of both Astoria Investments Ltd and Osiris Corporate Solutions (Mauritius) Limited. Therefore, due to common 
directorship, transactions with Osiris is considered as related party. Peter Graham Armitage is the director of both Astoria Investments Ltd 
and Anchor Group Limited. Therefore, due to common directorship, transactions with Anchor Group Limited is considered as related party.

Figures in $’000 2015

(a)  Key management personnel 

Director fees 

Transactions during the period 47 

Balance outstanding at 31 December 35 

(b)  Secretary and Administrator – Osiris Corporate Solutions (Mauritius) Limited

Professional services

Transactions during the period 21

Balance outstanding at 31 December 12 

(c)  Entity exercising control over Investment Manager – Anchor Group Limited

Professional services

Transactions during the period 1,666 

Balance outstanding at 31 December 7

(d)  Investment manager – Anchor Capital (Mauritius) Ltd

Management services

Transactions during the period 103

Balance outstanding at 31 December 103

16.Substantial Shareholders
At the reporting date, the following shareholders held more than 5% of the ordinary share capital of the Company:

17.Comparatives
There are no comparatives as these are the first statutory financial statements prepared by the Company since incorporation.

Shareholder Shares Held % Held

Anchor Alt AGG Fund 21,400,020 16.88%

RMB Securities (Pty) Ltd   8,162,195 6.44% 
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18.Change of Name
The Company has changed its name from Sofrica Holdings Ltd to Astoria Investments Ltd effective 21 July 2015.

19.Events After Reporting Date
As from 10 February 2016, the Company holds an additional secondary listing on the main board of the Namibian Stock Exchange (NSX). Apart 
from that, there are no material events after the reporting date that may have an impact on these financial statements

20.Segmental Information
The Company reports segment information in terms of geographical location. Geographical location is split between United States, Europe, 
Asia, South Africa and Mauritius. The Company has investments in high-quality global growth businesses.
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Geographical Location 

Figures in $’000 2015

Country
United 
States

Europe Asia South 
Africa Mauritius Total

Dividend income 3            2          1 - -       6

Total revenue 3            2          1 - - 6

General and administrative expenses  (54) (48) - (101) (157) (360) 

Operating loss (51) (46) 1 (101) (157) (354)

Net gain from financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss 

84 37 - - - 121

Net foreign exchange loss - - - (1,454) - (1,454)

Profit/(loss) for the period before 
interest and tax

33 (9) 1 (1,555) (157) (1,687)

Interest income - - - -            16              16 

Profit/(loss) for the period before tax 33 (9) 1 (1,555) (141) (1,671)

Taxation - - - - - -

Profit/(loss) for the period after tax 33 (9) 1 (1,555) (141) (1,671)

Segment assets 29,906 16,011 76 13 77,185 123,191 

Segment liabilities 66 119 - 29 144 358



21.Summary of Published Results and Asssets and Liabilities
The Company was incorporated on 20 April 2015 and therefore has only nine months of published results to disclose below. The full results 
were released on 30 March 2016.
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For the period from 20 April 2015 to 31 December 2015 

Figures in $’000 2015

(a)  STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

REVENUE 143

LOSS FOR THE PERIOD BEFORE TAX (1,671)

Taxation -

LOSS FOR THE PERIOD AFTER TAX (1,671)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD (1,671)

Loss per share from continuing operations

Basic loss per share (cents) (3)

Headline loss per share (cents) (3)

As at 31 December 

Figures in $’000 2015

(b) STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

ASSETS 

Non-current assets 34,730 

Current assets 88,461 

Total assets 123,191 

EQUITY

Stated capital 124,504

Revenue deficit (1,671) 

Total equity 122,833 

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities 358

Total liabilities 358

Total equity and liabilities 123,191
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ANALYSIS OF
SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholders of more than 5% of total issued share capital

Shareholder

Number of 
shares

% of issued 
capital

Anchor Alt AGG Fund                 21,400,020 16.88%

RMB Securities (Pty) Ltd                    8,162,195 6.44%

                29,562,215 23.32%

Categories of shareholders

Shareholder Type

Number of 
holders

Number of 
shares

% of issued 
capital

Public 6602 126,809,944 100%

6602 126,809,944 100%

Individuals 4946 39,298,449 30.99%

Nominees and Trusts 985 21,793,672 17.19%

Other Corporate Bodies 497 27,982,651 22.07%

Banks 2 789,794 0.62%

Pension Funds and Medical Aid Societies 83 31,956,143 25.20%

Collective iInvestment Schemes and Mutual Fund STET 89                  4,989,235 3.93%

6602               126,809,944 100%

Registered Shareholder Spread

Shareholder Spread

1  -   5 000 3,997 7,779,156 6.13%

5 001   -  10 000 1,162 8,407,777 6.63%

10 001  -     50 000 1,099 23,520,770 18.55%

50 001  -    100 000 200 13,872,004 10.94%

100 001  -   AND MORE 144 73,230,237 57.75%

 6,602 126,809,944 100.00%
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NOTICE
OF AGM
THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND 
REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION.
If you are in any doubt as to any aspect of the proposals referred 
to in this document or as to the action you should take, you should 
consult your stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant or 
other professional adviser. 

If you have sold or otherwise transferred all of your shares, please 
send this document, but not the accompanying personalised proxy 
form, at once to the purchaser or transferee, or to the stockbroker, 
bank or other agent through whom the sale or transfer was effected 
for transmission to the purchaser or transferee.

Astoria Investments Ltd
(Incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius)
(Registration number 129785 C1/GBL)
Having its registered address at
3rd Floor, La Croisette, Grand Baie, Mauritius
SEM share code: ATIL.N0000
JSE share code: ARA
NSX share code: ARO
ISIN: MU0499N00007
(“Astoria” or “the Company”)

Notice of Annual General Meeting
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Astoria 
Investments Ltd (the “Company”) will be held at 3rd Floor La Croisette, 
Grand Baie, Mauritius at 14:00 Mauritian time, (12:00 South African 
time) on Wednesday, 29 June 2016 for the purpose of:

1. Presenting the audited annual financial statements of the 
Company as well as the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, 
Corporate Governance Report and independent auditors’ 
report for the period ended 31 December 2015; and

2. Considering and if deemed fit adopting with or without 
modification, the shareholder resolutions set out below. 

Terms defined in the Annual Report to which this Notice of Annual 
General Meeting is attached (“Annual Report”) shall, unless the 
context indicates otherwise, have the meanings ascribed to them in 
the Annual Report.

Resolutions 1 to 7 (inclusive) will be proposed as ordinary resolutions 
which require more than 50 percent of the votes cast to be in favour 
in order for the resolution to be passed. Resolution 8 and 9 will be 
proposed as special resolutions which requires at least 75 percent of 
the votes cast to be in favour in order for the resolutions to be passed.

For those who are unable to attend, please complete the hard copy 
proxy form enclosed and return it to the Company Secretary by 
14:00 Mauritian time (12:00 South African time) on 28 June 2016. 

Timetable of Events
Notice of Annual General Meeting posted to shareholders by no 
later than:
Tuesday, 7 June 2016

Record date to be recorded in the register in order to be 
entitled to vote at the Annual General Meeting:
Friday, 24 June 2016

Last date to lodge forms of proxy for the Annual General Meeting 
by 14:00 Mauritian time (12:00 South African time):
Tuesday, 28 June 2016

Annual General Meeting held at 14:00 Mauritian time 
(12:00 South African time): 
Wednesday, 29 June 2016

Ordinary Resolutions
Resolution 1: Approval Of Accounts
To receive and adopt the audited annual financial statements of 
the Company for the period ended 31 December 2015, together 
with the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, Corporate 
Governance Report, and independent auditors’ report thereon.  

Resolution 2.1: Re-Election Of Director
To re-elect Mr Darryl Kaplan as a director.

Resolution 2.2: Re-Election Of Director
To re-elect Ms Tiffany Ann Purves as a director. 

Resolution 2.3: Re-Election Of Director
To re-elect Mr Peter Graham Armitage as a director.

Resolution 2.4: Re-Election Of Director
To re-elect Ms Catherine McIlraith as a director.

Resolution 2.5: Re-Election Of Director
To re-elect Mr Peter Todd as a director.

Resolution 2.6: Re-Election Of Director
To re-elect Ms Kate Alexandra Holland as a director.

Resolution 3: Re-Appointment Of Auditors
To re-appoint KPMG Mauritius, as the independent auditor of the 
Company, to hold office until the conclusion of the Company’s 
next Annual General Meeting in 2017. 
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Resolution 4: Remuneration Of Auditors
To authorise the directors to determine the remuneration of the 
auditors of the Company.

Resolution 5: Remuneration Of Non-
Executive Directors
To approve the remuneration of the non-executive directors, as 
follows: the sum of USD 15,000 per director per annum.

Resolution 6: Issue Of Shares
To authorise the board, in terms of paragraph 4.1 of the Constitution, 
to issue up to a further 323,190,056 million ordinary shares, being 
450 million ordinary shares in total with the current shares in issue, 
at any time to any person and in any number as it thinks fit pursuant 
to section 52 of the Companies Act 2001, provided that such 
authority shall only be valid until the next Annual General Meeting 
of the Company. 

Resolution 7: Share Option Scheme
To resolve that the Company’s Share Option Scheme (“the Scheme”) 
be and is hereby endorsed by way of a non-binding advisory vote.

The purpose of the Scheme, which will be made available to the 
executive directors of the Company, including any present or future 
director holding office, which executives shall be selected by the 
Board from time to time in its sole and absolute discretion, and 
excluding any non-executive director, shall be to attract, motivate, 
reward and retain participants who are able to influence the 
performance of the Company, on a basis which aligns their interests 
with those of the Company’s shareholders. 

Application will be made for the listing of scheme shares on the SEM, 
AltX and/or the NSX, as and when required.  

The Board will be responsible for the operation and administration of 
the Scheme and, subject to applicable laws, has discretion to decide 
whether and on what basis the Scheme shall be operated, which may 
include, but not be limited to, the delegation of the administration of 
the Scheme to any third party appointed by the Board, but excluding 
any executive director of the Company.

Special Resolutions

Resolution 8: Waiver Of Pre-Emption Rights
To authorise the Board, in terms of paragraph 4.8 of the Constitution, 
to issue any further shares proposed to be issued wholly for cash 
consideration (which shall include a cheque received in good faith 
or a release of a liability of the Company for a liquidated sum or an 
undertaking to pay cash to the Company at a further date), without 
having to first offer such shares to the Members in proportion as 
nearly as may be to the number of the existing shares held by them 
respectively, provided that such authority shall only be valid until the 
next Annual General Meeting of the Company. 

Resolution 9: Purchase Of Own Shares
To resolve that the Company be and is hereby authorised by way of 
a general authority to acquire shares issued by the Company, subject 
to the SEM Listing Rules, the Securities (Purchase of Own Shares) 
Rules 2007, the JSE Listings Requirements or the requirements of 
any other exchange on which the Company is listed and subject to 
the following provisions: 

a) any acquisition of shares shall be implemented through the JSE or 
the SEM and without prior arrangement; 
b) this general authority shall be valid until the Company’s next Annual 
General Meeting, provided that it shall not extend beyond 15 months 
from the date of passing this special resolution; 
c) the Company is duly authorised by its Constitution to do so; 
d) acquisitions of shares in the aggregate in any one financial year may 
not exceed 20% of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital, or 
10% where the acquisition of shares is undertaken by a subsidiary of 
the Company, as at the date of passing this special resolution; 
e) in determining the price at which shares issued by the Company 
are acquired by it or any of its subsidiaries in terms of this general 
authority, the maximum premium at which such shares may be 
acquired will be 10% of the weighted average of the market value 
on the JSE over the five business days immediately preceding the 
repurchase of such shares; 
f)  at any point in time the Company may appoint only one agent to 
effect repurchases on its behalf; 
g)  repurchases may not take place during a prohibited period (as 
defined in paragraph 3.67 of the JSE Listings Requirements) unless a 
repurchase programme is in place (where the dates and quantities of 
shares to be repurchased during the prohibited period are fixed) and 
has been submitted to the JSE in writing and published on the SEM’s 
website prior to commencement of the prohibited period; 
h) an announcement will be published as soon as the Company has 
acquired shares constituting, on a cumulative basis, 3% of the number 
of shares in issue prior to the granting of the repurchase authority and 
pursuant to which the aforesaid threshold is reached, and for each 
3% in aggregate acquired thereafter, containing full details of such 
repurchases; 
i) the Board of Directors of the Company must resolve that the 
repurchase is authorised, the Company has passed the solvency and 
liquidity test and since that test was performed, there have been no 
material changes to the financial position of the Company; and 
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Special Resolutions (Continued)
In accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements and the SEM Listing Rules, the directors record that although there is no immediate intention 
to effect a repurchase of the shares of the Company, the directors will utilise this general authority to repurchase shares as and when suitable 
opportunities present themselves, which may require expeditious and immediate action.

The directors undertake that, after considering the maximum number of shares that may be repurchased and the price at which the 
repurchases may take place pursuant to the general authority, for a period of 12 months after the date of notice of this Annual General 
Meeting: 
• the Company will, in the ordinary course of business, be able to pay its debts; 
• the assets of the Company fairly valued in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, will exceed the liabilities of the 

Company fairly valued in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards; and 
• the Company’s share capital, reserves and working capital will be adequate for ordinary business purposes. 

Explanation of Resolutions: 
Resolutions 2.1 – 2.6: In accordance with paragraph 12.1.2 of the Constitution of the Company, any director appointed under paragraph 12.1.1 
shall hold office only until the following Annual General Meeting and shall then retire, but shall be eligible for appointment at that meeting.

Resolution 3: Pursuant to the Companies Act 2001, the auditors will be re-appointed by a resolution of the Shareholders.

Resolution 4: Pursuant to the Companies Act 2001, where the auditor is appointed at a meeting of the Company, the fees and expenses of 
an auditor of a company shall be fixed by the Company at the meeting or in such manner as the Company may determine at the meeting.

Resolution 5: The Companies Act 2001 requires the remuneration of the non-executive directors to be approved by a resolution of Shareholders.

Resolution 6: Shareholders’ authority is required for the directors to issue shares to investors. As per the shareholders resolution dated 30 
October 2015, the board was authorised, in terms of paragraph 4.1 of the Constitution, to issue up to 450,000,000 ordinary shares at any time, 
to any person and in any number as it thinks fit pursuant to section 52 of the Companies Act, 2001, provided that such authority shall only 
be valid for a period of one year from the date hereof or until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, whichever shall first occur. 
Accordingly, the directors consider that it is in the best interests of the Company to renew such authority for a period of one year from 
the date hereof or until the next Annual General Meeting.  In this instance, however, the authority is to issue up to a further 323,190,056 
million ordinary shares, being 450 million ordinary shares in total with the current shares in issue.

Resolution 7: The Board is responsible for determining the remuneration of executive directors in accordance with the remuneration policy 
of the Company. This ordinary resolution is of an advisory nature only and failure to pass this resolution will therefore not have any legal 
consequences relating to existing arrangements. However the Board will take the outcome of the vote into consideration when considering 
the implementation of the Company’s Share Option Scheme.

Resolution 8: Paragraph 4.8 of the Constitution of the Company requires shares to be offered to existing shareholders pro rata to their 
respective shareholdings in the Company, unless the Members by special resolution and the board by resolution otherwise direct. Accordingly, 
the directors consider that it is in the best interests of the Company to seek authority of the shareholders to waive pre-emption rights. Such 
authority will apply for a period expiring at the Annual General Meeting to be held in 2017.

Resolution 9: This resolution will afford the Company a general authority to effect a repurchase of the Company’s shares, subject to the SEM 
Listing Rules, the JSE Listings Requirements, the NSX Listing Rules, the Companies Act 2001 and the Company’s Constitution.  

RECOMMENDATIONS
The directors consider that the passing of Resolutions 1 to 9 is in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole and 
accordingly recommend that you vote in favour of all the resolutions to be proposed at this year’s Annual General Meeting. 

QUORUM
The quorum for the Annual General Meeting shall be at least 3 shareholders present in person or by proxy.  

In addition – 
1. The Annual General Meeting may not begin until sufficient persons are present at the Annual General Meeting to exercise, in aggregate, 

at least 25% (twenty five percent) of the voting rights that are entitled to be exercised in respect of at least one matter to be decided at 
the Annual General Meeting; and

2. A matter to be decided at the Annual General Meeting may not begin to be considered unless sufficient persons are present at the 
Annual General Meeting to exercise, in aggregate, at least 25% (twenty five percent) of all of the voting rights that are entitled to be 
exercised in respect of that matter at the time the matter is called on the agenda. 

After a quorum has been established for the Annual General Meeting, or for a matter to be considered at a meeting, all the Shareholders 
forming part of the quorum must be present at the meeting for the matter to be considered at the meeting.  
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Electronic Participation at the AGM
The Company intends to make provision for shareholders and their proxies to participate in the AGM by way of telephone conference call.  
Shareholders wishing to do so:

• Must contact the Company at +230 6504030 no later than 12:00 South African time on Monday, 27 June 2016, to obtain a pin number 
and dial-in details for the conference call;

• Will be required to provide reasonably satisfactory identification;
• Will be billed separately by their own telephone service providers for the telephone call to participate in the meeting;
• Must submit their voting proxies by no later than 12:00 South African time on Monday, 27 June 2016.  No changes to voting instructions 

after this time and date can be accepted unless the Chairman of the meeting is satisfied as to the identification of the electronic participant.

Registered Office:
3rd Floor, La Croisette, 
Grand Baie,
Mauritius

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD
Osiris Corporate Solutions (Mauritius) Ltd, Company Secretary

Dated this 7th day of June 2016
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Notes
As at 7 June 2016, the Company’s issued share capital consisted of 126,809,944 ordinary shares, carrying one vote each. No shares are 
currently held in Treasury.
Subject to any special rights or restrictions as to voting attached to any shares by or in accordance with the Constitution, at a meeting of the 
Company –
(a) every person present and entitled to exercise voting rights shall be entitled to 1 (one) vote on a show of hands, irrespective of the  
 number of voting rights that person would otherwise be entitled to exercise;
(b) on a poll any person who is present at the meeting, whether as a shareholder or as proxy for a shareholder, has the number of   
 votes determined in accordance with the voting rights associated with the securities held by that shareholder.
A shareholder may be represented at a meeting of shareholders by a proxy who may speak and vote on behalf of the shareholder.

A Form of Proxy is enclosed for your use if desired. To be valid, the instrument appointing a proxy must be completed and reach the Company 
Secretary at the Company’s registered office, 3rd Floor, La Croisette, Grand Baie, Mauritius (or by email to kevin@ocs.world), so as to arrive 
not less than 24 hours before the time of holding the meeting.
In the case of joint holders of shares, 
(a) if two or more persons hold shares jointly each of them may be present in person or by proxy at a meeting of Shareholders and may 
speak as a shareholder;
(b) if only one of the joint owners is present in person or by proxy he may vote on behalf of all joint owners; and
(c) if two or more of the joint owners are present in person or by proxy they must vote as one.
To direct your proxy how to vote on the resolutions mark the appropriate box on your proxy form with an ‘X’. To abstain from voting on a 
resolution, select the relevant ‘Vote withheld’ box. A vote withheld is not a vote in law, which means that the vote will not be counted in the 
calculation of votes for or against the resolution. If no voting indication is given, your proxy will vote (or abstain from voting) as he or she thinks 
fit in relation to any other matter which is put before the meeting.

Any power of attorney or any other authority under which your proxy form is signed (or a duly certified copy of such power or authority) must 
be included with your proxy form.

In the case of a member which is a company, your proxy form must be executed under its common seal or signed on its behalf by a duly 
authorised officer of the company or an attorney for the company.

If you submit more than one valid proxy appointment, the appointment received last before the latest time for the receipt of proxies will take 
precedence.

All beneficial owners whose shares have been dematerialised through a Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”), the Central 
Depository and Settlement Company Limited (“CDS”) or broker other than with “own name” registration, must provide the CSDP, CDS or broker 
with their voting instructions in terms of their custody agreement should they wish to vote at the Annual General Meeting. Alternatively, they 
may request the CSDP, CDS or broker to provide them with a letter of representation, in terms of their custody agreements, should they wish 
to attend the Annual General Meeting. Such shareholder must not complete the attached form of proxy. 

Any member attending the meeting has the right to ask questions. The Company has to answer any questions raised by members at the 
meeting which relate to the business being dealt with at the meeting unless: 1. to do so would interfere unduly with the preparation for the 
meeting or involve the disclosure of confidential information; 2. the answer has already been given on a website in the form of an answer to 
a question, or 3. it is undesirable in the interests of the company or the good order of the meeting to answer the question.
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Astoria Investments Ltd
(Incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius)
(Registration number 129785 C1/GBL)
Having its registered address at
3rd Floor, La Croisette, Grand Baie, Mauritius
SEM share code: ATIL.N0000
JSE share code: ARA
NSX share code: ARO
ISIN: MU0499N00007
(“Astoria” or “the Company”)

Proxy Form
Astoria Investments Ltd
Annual General Meeting

For use by shareholders of the Company holding certified shares and/or dematerialised shareholders who have elected “own-name” 
registration, nominee companies of CSDPs, CDSs and brokers’ nominee companies, registered as such at the close of business on 24 June 
2016 (the “voting record date”), at the Annual General Meeting to be held at 3rd Floor La Croisette, Grand Baie, Mauritius on Wednesday, 29 
June 2016 at 14:00 Mauritius time and 12:00 South African time (the “Annual General Meeting” or postponement or adjournment thereof.

If you are a dematerialised shareholder, other than with “own-name” registration, do not use this form. Dematerialised shareholders, other 
than with “own-name” registration should provide instructions to their appointed CSDP, CDS or broker in the form as stipulated in the 
agreement entered into between the shareholder and the CSDP, CDS or broker.

I/We (name in block letters) 

Of (Address) 

being the registered holder of         shares, 
hereby appoint

(1)         or failing him/her,

(2)         or failing him/her,

(3) the chairperson of the Annual General Meeting 

as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company and at any adjournment or 
postponement thereof.  

Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces how you wish your votes to be cast. Unless this is done the proxy will vote as he/she 
thinks fit.



4  To approve the remuneration of the auditors

5  To approve the remuneration of non- executive directors

6  To authorise the Board to issue shares

7  To endorse the Company’s Share Option Scheme

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

8  Special resolution: Waiver of pre- emptive rights

9  Special resolution: Purchase of own shares
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Resolutions
Please mark ‘X’ to indicate how you wish to vote

Signature Date

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

    For     Against
  Vote  

  Withheld

1 To receive and adopt the audited annual financial statements for the period 
ended 31 August 2015, together with the directors’ report and independent 
auditor’s report thereon 

2.1 To re- elect Darryl Kaplan as a director 

2.2 To re- elect Tiffany Ann Purves as a director

2.3  To re- elect Peter Graham Armitage as a direct

2.4  To re- elect Catherine McIlraith as a director

2.5  To re- elect Peter Todd as a directo

2.6  To re- elect Kate Alexandra Holland as a director

3  To re- appoint KPMG as auditors
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Notes

1. Every shareholder has the right to appoint some other person(s) of their choice, who need not be a shareholder as his proxy to exercise 
all or any of his rights, to attend, speak and vote on their behalf at the meeting. If you wish to appoint a person other than the Chairman, 
please insert the name of your chosen proxy holder in the space provided (see over). If the proxy is being appointed in relation to less 
than your full voting entitlement, please enter the number of shares in relation to which they are authorised to act as your proxy. If left 
blank your proxy will be deemed to be authorised in respect of your full voting entitlement (or if this proxy form has been issued in 
respect of a designated account for a shareholder, the full voting entitlement for that designated account).

2. To appoint more than one proxy you may photocopy this form. Please indicate the proxy holder’s name and the number of shares in 
relation to which they are authorised to act as your proxy (which, in aggregate, should not exceed the number of shares held by you). 
Please also indicate if the proxy instruction is one of multiple instructions being given. All forms must be signed and should be returned 
together in the same envelope.

3. The ‘Vote Withheld’ option is provided to enable you to abstain on any particular resolution. However, it should be noted that a ‘Vote 
Withheld’ is not a vote in law and will not be counted in the calculation of the proportion of the votes ‘For’ and ‘Against’ a resolution.

4. Entitlement to attend and vote at the meeting and the number of votes which may be cast thereat will be determined by reference 
to the Register of Members of the Company on 24 June 2016.  Changes to entries on the Register of Members after that time shall be 
disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend and vote at the meeting.

5. The completion and return of this form will not preclude a member from attending the meeting and voting in person. If you attend the 
meeting in person, your proxy appointment will automatically be terminated.

6. The Form of Proxy overleaf must arrive at the Company Secretary, Osiris Corporate Solutions (Mauritius) Ltd at the Company’s registered 
office, 3rd Floor La Croisette, Grand Baie, Mauritius, or by email to kevin@ocs.world, accompanied by any Power of attorney under which 
it is executed (if applicable), no later than 14:00 Mauritian time on 28 June 2016.




